

Montea Comm. VA.

Partnership limited by shares (commanditaire vennootschap op aandelen/société en commandite par actions), public closed-end real estate investment company (openbare vastgoedbeleggingsvennootschap met vast kapitaal/société d'investissement à capital fixe immobilière publique) under Belgian law, having its registered office in 9320 Erembodegem (Belgium), Industrielaan 27, enterprise number (RLE Dendermonde) 0417.186.211 (the **Issuer**)

SECURITIES NOTE Application for admission to trading and listing on NYSE Euronext Brussels of EUR 30,000,000 4.107 per cent fixed rated bonds due 28 June 2020

(the Bonds)

Issue Price: 100.00 % Yield: 4.107 % ISIN Code: BE0002203694

Issue Date: 28 June 2013

Montea, a partnership limited by shares (*commanditaire vennootschap op aandelen/société en commandite par actions*), public closed-end real estate investment company (*openbare vastgoedbeleggingsvennootschap met vast kapitaal/société d'investissement à capital fixe immobilière publique*) under Belgian law, having its registered office in 9320 Erembodegem (Belgium), Industrielaan 27, enterprise number (RLE Dendermonde) 0417.186.211 will issue the Bonds (the **Bond Issue**) for a principal amount of EUR 30,000,000. Each Bond bears interest from the Issue Date (included) at the Nominal Interest Rate payable annually in arrears on 28 June of each year (the **Interest Payment Date**), with the first Interest Payment Date falling on 28 June 2014. Interest in respect of any period which is shorter than an Interest Period shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days spent (on the basis of one year of 365 days or 366 for bissextile years). Unless previously redeemed, the Bonds will mature on 28 June 2020. The Bonds can be redeemed early in the limited cases described in Condition 5.6 entitled "*Redemption and purchase*" of the *Terms and Conditions* of the Bonds.

Bank Degroof NV/SA (having its registered office at 1040 Brussels, Nijverheidsstraat 44, enterprise number (RLE Brussels) 0403.212.172) and Belfius Bank NV/SA (having its registered office at 1000 Brussels, Pachecolaan 44, enterprise number (RLE Brussels) 0403.201.185) are acting as joint lead managers (the **Joint Lead Managers**). Bank Degroof NV/SA has been appointed as sole domiciliary, calculation, paying and listing agent (the **Agent**).

The denomination of the Bonds shall be EUR 100,000.

This document (the **Securities Note**) (including the information which has been incorporated by reference herein) and the Issuer's annual financial report 2012, which is a registration document within the meaning of Article 28 of the Belgian law of 16 June 2006 on the public offering of investment instruments and the admission of investment instruments to trading on a regulated market (the **Prospectus Law**) (the **Registration Document**) of 2 April 2013, together constitute the listing prospectus for the application for admission to trading and listing on the regulated markets of the Bonds on Euronext Brussels (the **Prospectus**). The Prospectus has been approved by the Belgian Financial Services and Markets Authority (the **FSMA**) on 2 July 2013 in its capacity as competent authority under the Prospectus Law in accordance with article 23 of the

Prospectus Law. This approval cannot be considered as a judgment as to the opportunity of the quality of the transaction, nor on the situation of the Issuer. Application has been made to NYSE Euronext Brussels for the Bonds to be listed and admitted to trading.

The Prospectus is a listing prospectus for the purposes of Article 5 (3) of Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 November 2003 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading and amending Directive 2001/34/EC, as amended (the **Prospectus Directive**) and the Prospectus Law. The Prospectus has been prepared in accordance with the Prospectus Law and the Commission Regulation (EC) 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 implementing the Prospectus Directive, as amended (the **Prospectus Regulation**). It intends to provide the information with regard to the Issuer (in the Registration Document) and the Bonds (in the Securities Note), which according to the particular nature of the Issuer and the Bonds, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the rights attaching to the Bonds and of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Issuer.

The Bonds are issued in dematerialised form in accordance with Article 468 et seq. of the Belgian Companies Code (*Wetboek van vennootschappen/Code des sociétés*) and cannot be physically delivered. They may be converted into registered securities. The Bonds will be exclusively represented by book entry in the records of the clearing system operated by the NBB or any successor thereto (the **Clearing System**). The Bonds can be held by their holders through participants in the Clearing System, including Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, and through any other financial intermediaries which in turn hold the Bonds through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, or other participants in the Clearing System. The Bonds are accepted for clearance through the Clearing System, and are accordingly subject to the applicable Belgian regulations on clearing of financial securities, including the Belgian law of 6 August 1993 on transactions in certain securities, its implementing Royal Decrees of 26 May 1994 and 14 June 1994, and the rules of the Clearing System and its annexes, as issued or modified by the NBB (the laws, decrees and rules mentioned in this Condition being referred to herein as the **Clearing System Regulations**). Title to the Bonds will pass by account transfer. The Bonds may not be exchanged for bonds in bearer form.

If at any time the Bonds are transferred to another clearing system, not operated or not exclusively operated by the NBB, these provisions shall apply *mutatis mutandis* to such successor clearing system and successor clearing system operator or any additional clearing system and additional clearing system, an **Alternative Clearing System**).

Unless otherwise stated, capitalised terms used in the Prospectus have the meanings set forth in the Prospectus. Where reference is made to the **Conditions of the Bonds** or to the **Conditions**, reference is made to the **Terms and Conditions of the Bonds** (see Section 5 entitled *"Terms and Conditions of the Bonds"*).

An investment in the Bonds involves certain risks. Prospective investors should refer to Section 1 entitled "*Risk Factors*" on page 5 for an explanation of certain risks of investing in the Bonds.

Joint Lead Managers





TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	RIS	K FACTORS	5
	1.1	Risk factors relating to the Issuer	5
	1.2	Risk factors relating to the Bonds	14
2	2 IMPORTANT INFORMATION		
	2.1	Responsible persons	22
	2.2	Warning	22
	2.3	Important information relating to the use of the Prospectus and offer of Bonds generally	24
	2.4	Available information	24
	2.5	Further information	24
3	DO	CUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	26
4	ESS	ENTIAL INFORMATION	28
5	TEF	RMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS	29
	5.1	Form and Nominal Value of the Bonds	29
	5.2	Status	30
	5.3	Definitions	30
	5.4	Negative pledge	33
	5.5	Interest	33
	5.6	Redemption and purchase	33
	5.7	Payments	37
	5.8	Tax compensation	38
	5.9	Events of Default	39
	5.10	Undertakings	41
	5.11	Compliance with undertakings	42
	5.12	Statute of limitations	42
	5.13	General meetings of Bondholders and modification of the Conditions	42
	5.14	Notices to the Bondholders	43
	5.15	Further issues	44
	5.16	Governing law and jurisdiction	44
6	CLI	EARING	45
7	DES	SCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER	46
	7.1	General	46
	7.2 Regist	Important change since the approval by the FSMA of the Annual Report 2012 ration Document	
8	USE	E OF PROCEEDS	48
9	TAX	Χ	50
	9.1	EU Savings Directive	50
	9.2	Taxation in Belgium	50
1) SUE	BSCRIPTION AND SALE	55

	10.1	Subscription Period and procedure	.55	
	10.2	Conditions of the Bond Issue	.55	
	10.3	Listing of the Bonds	.56	
	10.4	Pricing of the Bonds	.56	
	10.5	Nominal amount of the Bond Issue	.56	
	10.6	Date and payment details	. 57	
	10.7	Fees incurred by the investors	. 57	
	10.8	Financial service	. 57	
	10.9	Early closing and allocation of the Bonds	. 57	
	10.10	Results of the Bond Issue	. 58	
	10.11	Bond Issue timetable	. 58	
	10.12	Costs	. 58	
	10.13	Transfer of the Bonds	. 58	
	10.14	Selling restrictions	. 58	
11 GENERAL INFORMATION				
SCHEDULE 1: EARLY REDEMPTION REQUEST NOTICE FORM				

1 RISK FACTORS

The risks described below may affect the ability of the Issuer to fulfill its obligations under the Bonds. These factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring. If any of the following risks materialize, the Issuer's business, financial condition, results and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. This may impact the ability of the Issuer to service the Bonds and may cause investors to lose all or part of their investment.

Certain risks of which the Issuer is aware at the date of the Prospectus and which it considers material to prospective investors, are set out in the risk factors below. Although the Issuer believes that the risks and uncertainties described below, represent all material risks and uncertainties considered relevant on the date of publication of the Prospectus, the Issuer may face additional risks and uncertainties relating to it which are not currently known to the Issuer, or that it does not currently deem material, and that may also have an adverse effect on the Issuer's business, financial condition, results and prospects. If this occurs, this may impact the ability of the Issuer to service the Bonds and may cause investors to lose all or part of their investment.

Prospective investors should consider carefully whether an investment in the Bonds is suitable for them in light of the information in the Prospectus and their personal circumstances. Subscription to the Bonds is only suitable for investors who are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses which may arise and which may be equal to the whole amount invested. Such an investment should be seen as complementary to existing investments in a wide spread of other financial assets and should not form a major part of an investment portfolio. Furthermore, before making an investment decision with respect to any Bonds, prospective investors should consult their own stockbroker, bank manager, lawyer, auditor or other financial, legal and tax advisors.

1.1 Risk factors relating to the Issuer

1.1.1 Market risks

Risks associated with the economic climate

The Issuer's business is subject to the influence of economic cycles. The general macro-economic indicators may have a negative influence on the development activities of the Issuer. They exert an influence on investment and entering into leases with companies in the sector of logistics and semi industrial properties. They may also have an impact on the Issuer's funding sources for investments.

Risks associated with the property market

Rent levels, vacancies and the value of buildings are affected significantly by supply and demand in the market in relation to the sale and lease of property. The main risks to which the Issuer is exposed stem from keeping the occupancy rate up to the required mark and taking advantage of the opportunity to maintain rent levels – and hence also the value of the buildings – when new lease agreements are entered into or when existing leases are renewed.

The Issuer seeks to minimize the impact of these risks on its results and on the value of its portfolio through:

- the geographical diversification of its property portfolio;
- the diversification of its type of buildings;
- the diversification of its customers;

- the investment policy in quality buildings:
- the development of flexible real estate solutions for its customers.

By implementing these five elements, the Issuer has always succeeded in restricting vacancies at its sites. Since it was listed on the stock exchange, the Issuer has never had an occupancy rate of less than 91%.¹

When existing leases are renewed and/or new ones are signed, it is current practice that the rent per m^2 is maintained at the same level. In the logistics sector, it is usually the case that as part of renegotiating and/or signing new leases, the basic rent (non-indexed) is maintained and a rent-free period of 3 to 6 months is granted, depending on the length of the lease.

In most cases, the stated rent is also higher than the estimated rental value. Based on the property estimate, the average rent-to-rental value ratio is 10.7% higher in Belgium and 6.3% higher in France.

Based on the real estate portfolio as of 31 March 2013, no single client-tenant makes up more than 20% of its total rental income, nor does any single unit of property make up more than 20% of the portfolio. The value of the largest unit of property in the portfolio represents 12.6% of the total fair value of the portfolio (Saint-Cyr-en-Val site in Orléans – France).

The Issuer is prohibited from executing any transaction such that it leads to having over 20% of its real estate assets invested in one single real estate entity, or from increasing this percentage, should one or several real estate entities reach an investment of more than 20%. If the aforementioned obligations are not met at the moment of executing a transaction, the Issuer will make a request for exemption to the 20% limit to be increased or the necessary measures will be taken to reduce the importance of these tenants to below the 20% threshold.

The Issuer also intends to continue expanding its assets so that the relative importance of each building in its portfolio is limited.

The Issuer's growth strategy guarantees optimal risk sharing based on the following two pillars:

- the acquisition of buildings in Belgium and France that, on the basis of objective criteria such as accessibility of or proximity to major consumer centres, are optimally located and therefore offer a good potential in terms of marketing (geographical risk sharing);
- the acquisition of buildings leased to stable and solvent, high-quality tenants from diverse economic sectors such as the logistics sector, the food industry, the pharmaceutical sector, the consumer goods sector as well as the industrial sector (sectoral risk sharing).

Risk of inflation

When interest rates are fixed, the Issuer only has limited exposure to the risk of inflation since the rental income is indexed annually (based on the health index). With a variation of 100 basis points, the impact of the index can be estimated at EUR 0.2 million.

By contrast, a rise in nominal interest rates combined with low inflation could result in a rise in real interest rates. This creates a major risk by increasing finance charges in a way that happens more quickly than revenue can be indexed.

¹ The occupancy rate for the entire portfolio is calculated based on floor space (m^2). When calculating the occupancy rate, no account is taken either in the denominator or in the numerator of the m^2 intended for redevelopment.

The Issuer has taken appropriate measures in this area to cover itself against risks of this type.

1.1.2 Risks associated with the Issuer's property portfolio

The Issuer's board of directors and management are fully aware of the importance of developing sound management practices and maintaining a quality portfolio. For this reason, the Issuer imposes strict, clear-cut criteria regarding the enhancing and upgrading of buildings, its commercial and technical management and investments and divestments. The aim of these criteria is to restrict vacancy level, as well as push up the value of the Issuer's property assets in a sustainable way.

Rental risks

The Issuer's entire turnover consists of the rent generated by leases to third parties. Non-payment by tenants and a decrease in the occupancy rate may have a negative impact on results. The Issuer is also exposed to the risk of a loss of rent associated with the departure of tenants at the end of their lease.

Notwithstanding what was mentioned before, the Issuer cannot preclude that in the future, new leases will generate lower rents than the current ones, taking into account the current financial climate and if new tenants are found, this may affect the Issuer's turnover and cashflows. This was the case with the renegotiation with Norbert Dentressangle at the site in Marennes (Lyon) at the end of 2012.

Whenever a new lease agreement is signed and/or an existing lease extended, in certain cases the Issuer will offer a rent-free period, depending on the fixed term of the lease and the space taken. This rent free period is granted in order to:

- carry out adaptation works when signing a new lease agreement;
- carry out new fit-out works.

The Issuer actively manages and guides its existing and future clients, to minimise vacancy and tenant turnover in its property portfolio.

The vast majority of leases contain a clause allowing the rental fee in Belgium to be annually adjusted to the index of consumer prices and in France to the index of construction costs. 100% of the current leases in France and 96% of the current leases in Belgium are subject to changes to the above indices. No rental income is exposed to a reduction of the initial rent should there be a fall in the index.

Before a new client is accepted, its financial solvency is checked. On the signing of each lease an unconditional bank guarantee is required, the amount of which corresponds to a rent of 3 to 6 months. The rent is payable in advance, either on a monthly or quarterly basis.

The Issuer also positions itself in the context of alliances with third parties (project developers, landowners, etc.), as a property developer. During the final quarter of 2011, the Issuer completed a built-to-suit project for Coca-Cola Belgium NV in Heppignies. In 2012, the Issuer signed a collaborative agreement with Group De Paepe to develop a distribution centre for DHL Global Forwarding at Brucargo. However, the Issuer has no plans to become involved in speculative development projects (known as "blank" projects for which there no tenants are arranged in advance).

Within the property sector, the Issuer aims at two subsectors, one in real estate logistics (mainly storage and handling of goods) and the other in semi-industrial real estate (smaller properties usually rented to SMEs and smaller branches of international groups). In this way, the Issuer tries to share its risk in terms of type of tenant/sector and geographical location.

When acquiring a building, the Issuer always performs a legal, environmental, accounting and fiscal due diligence, based on extensive internal analysis and usually with the assistance of external specialist consultants.

Management of the real estate portfolio

The Issuer's team, responsible for the daily management of the buildings, handles the technical management of the property portfolio and presents regularly efficient and flexible solutions in collaboration with the commercial team. Moreover, the commercial team will make every effort to proactively minimise any possible vacancies.

The internal property management team follows up the operational management of the technical maintenance of the buildings, as well as the coordination of the ongoing construction and renovation. The team submits an annual maintenance and renovation schedule to the Board of Directors for the purpose of securing optimal long-term portfolio profitability.

In 2012, a total of EUR 0.1 million were spent on maintenance costs. Moreover, an amount of EUR 3.6 million was invested in improvements to the existing portfolio. During the first quarter of 2013, a limited amount of EUR 12.000 was spent on technical and maintenance costs and a total of EUR 0.3 million was invested in improvements on the existing portfolio.

In view of the fact that the Issuer has a relatively small team, when certain key members of staff leave, the Issuer is exposed to an organizational risk. The unexpected departure of some employees may have adverse effects on the Issuer's development. Should this situation occur, the Issuer is able to make up for these key functions temporarily by appealing to outsourcing.

Risks associated with the fluctuation of the operational costs

Direct operational costs are mainly influenced by two factors:

- the age and quality of the buildings: these determine the maintenance and repair costs. Both are closely monitored and coordinated whereby the implementation of the work is outsourced;
- the level of vacancy and turnover of tenants: these determine, inter alia, the cost of unrented space, the cost of re-letting, the costs for renovation and discounts to new clients. The aim of active commercial portfolio management is to minimise these costs.

The Issuer conducts a policy of ongoing maintenance and refurbishment for its property portfolio in order to maintain or even increase existing rents, as well as to make it easier to lease the space again. Despite these measures, there is still the risk of the buildings losing value.

The preparation and monitoring of maintenance and refurbishment works is part of the package of tasks carried out by the Project Management team under the responsibility of the CDO.

The Issuer also focuses on new developments, in both Belgium and France. In mid-2012, the Issuer appointed Griet Cappelle (Civil Engineer and Architect) as Chief Development Officer (CDO) to supervise and guide these new-build projects.

Risk of destruction of the buildings

The risk of buildings destroyed by fire or other disasters is fully insured for new construction. The insurance policies, underwritten by the Issuer, also include additional guarantees (such as loss of rent), which were established based on the best possible market coverage.

On 31 March 2013, the insured value of the property portfolio amounted to EUR 392.1 million (EUR 217.9 million in Belgium and EUR 174.2 million in France). This covers the full fair value of the portfolio on the same date.²

During 2012, an entire premium of EUR 413,164.38 was paid for the insurance of these buildings. These insurance premiums were all invoiced to the tenants, with the exception however of the premiums paid for vacant buildings and with the exception of premiums whereby the recovery is either contractually impermissible or limited. The percentage of the total insurance premiums that could not be contractually invoiced to our clients amounted to 58.03% of the total.

1.1.3 Financial risks

Financial risks management

Exposure to foreign exchange, interest rates, liquidity and credit risks, can arise in the exercise of the Issuer's normal commercial activities. The Issuer analyzes and reviews all risks and hereby defines the strategies in order to manage the economic impact on the performance of the Issuer. The results of these analyses and proposed strategies are reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

Debt structure

On 31 March 2013, the Issuer's debt ratio was 50.80% on a consolidated level and 50.08% on a statutory basis. Given the maximum allowed debt ratio of 65%, the Issuer still has a consolidated debt capacity of EUR 44.0 million given constant assets (i.e. without any growth in the property portfolio). Looked at the other way round, the operating balance sheet structure, if all other parameters remain constant, would be able to absorb a 22% reduction in the value of the property portfolio before reaching the maximum debt ratio of 65%.

A closed-end real estate investment company (**REIT**) specialized in logistics property, such as the Issuer, has no problem with a debt ratio of 55%. This means that the Issuer can allow the portfolio to grow by EUR 29 million, fully funded by debt.

When the consolidated debt ratio exceeds 50%, a financial plan needs to be drawn up with an implementation diagram containing a description of the measures that will be taken to prevent the ratio exceeding 65%. As of 31 March 2013, the consolidated debt ratio was 50.80%, meaning that the Issuer is required to draw up a financial plan and the implementation diagram that goes with it. For more information on the financial plan, we refer to section 4.5.4 of the Registration Document, on p. 53.

Liquidity risk

The Issuer maintains a healthy, sustainable relationship with its banking partners (ING, Belfius, BNP Paribas Fortis and KBC), which constitute a diversified group of leading European financial establishments. This spread guarantees attractive financial market terms. The funding risk, which consists mainly of the Issuer having a shortfall of cash resources, is restricted by:

• spreading the Issuer's financial debt across four leading European financial establishments (ING, Belfius, BNP Paribas Fortis and KBC), each of which funds approximately one-quarter of the Issuer's financial debt;

² The insured value of the property portfolio is the same as the insured value at 31 December 2012.

• the term of the financial debt: during 2012, the Issuer finalised the refinancing of its total expiring debt (EUR 25.0 million). This refinancing of EUR 25.0 million has an average term of 3.6 years. The Issuer is currently analysing its debt position with its financial establishments so that it can be ready, prior to its lines of credit becoming due for repayment, to refinance its debt on terms in line with the current market.

As of 31 March 2013, the Issuer had lines of credit totalling EUR 165.0 million, EUR 146.5 million of which was already drawn down. During 2013, EUR 30.0 million of these lines of credit will become due for repayment.

The Issuer manages its liquidity risk by making sufficient credit resources available and by reconciling both receipts and payments as much as possible.

Taking account of the legal status of REIT and given the nature of the assets in which the Issuer invests, the risk of the lines of credit not being renewed (except in the event of unforeseen circumstances) is small, even in the context of a tightening of credit terms. On the other hand, it is indeed the case that if market conditions worsen compared with previous years, there is a possible risk of an increase in credit margins after the due date.

There is also a risk of the bilateral lines of credit being terminated as a result of the cancellation, termination or review of the funding contracts as the result of not complying with the covenants stipulated at the time of signing these funding contracts.

The Issuer's undertakings with its financial establishments are in line with the marketplace and provide, among other things, that the debt ratio (as defined under the terms of the Royal Decree of 7 December 2010 on REITs) does not exceed the ceiling of 60%.

As a result, should the Issuer not comply with its obligations and, more generally, should it remain in default under the terms of these contracts, it is exposed to the risk of forced repayment. Although, based on current circumstances and the outlook that can reasonably be made, the Issuer is unaware of any elements that might point to any of its undertakings not being honoured, the risk of non compliance with its covenants cannot be excluded.

To prevent a liquidity problem in the future, the Issuer is currently taking action to secure in good time the funding required for the further growth of the portfolio. The Issuer currently foresees no problem in securing further sources of funding. In so doing, maintaining the balance between the cost of funding, as well as the term and diversification of the funding sources, is always to the fore.

The Issuer's borrowing capacity on 31 March 2013 is a further EUR 44.0 million, taking it to a debt ratio of 65% (the legal ceiling) or EUR 28 million for a debt ratio of 60% (covenants applicable under current credit facilities).

Risks associated with changes in interest rates

With the exception of its lease agreements, the Issuer enters into all of its financial debts at a variable interest rate (EURIBOR 3 months). This enables it to benefit from any low interest rates that may be available. 87.7% of its financial debt on 31 March 2013 consists of lines of credit with variable interest rates.

To hedge the risk of increases in interest rates, the Issuer conducts a policy whereby part of its financial debt is covered by interest rate hedging instruments. This prudential policy prevents a rise in nominal interest rates without a simultaneous growth in inflation, resulting in an increase in real interest rates.

Any rise in real interest rates cannot be offset by an increase in rental income through indexation. It is also a fact that there is always a time lapse between a rise in nominal interest rates and the indexation of rental income. Hence the risk of rising interest rates is hedged by IRS ("Interest Rate Swaps").

100% of the drawn down funding entered into by the Issuer is at a variable rate of interest. The Issuer conducts a policy whereby at least 75% of its drawn down bank funding is covered by the use of IRS-type hedging instruments (in which the variable interest rate is swapped with a fixed rate). As of 31 March 2013, the total debt position with a variable interest rate of EUR 146.5 million was covered 87.7% by IRS-type hedging instruments, with maturity dates between 2012 and 2021. This means that 12.3% (or EUR 18.1 million) of the total EUR 146.5 million is exposed to variable interest rates.

Based on the existing debt position at 31 December 2012 and the shorter-term interest rates in effect at the time, a 100 basis points rise in short-term interest rates would only mean a small increase in total funding costs (EUR +0.3 million).

During 2012, two IRS contracts (for an aggregate notional amount of EUR 35 million) were replaced by a single contract (for a notional amount of EUR 60 million).

This transaction is part of the programme to keep funding costs under control, whereby the negative value of the most expensive hedging instrument is spread over a longer term, taking account of a higher notional amount and a lower cost of hedging. As a result of this transaction, and based on the same amount of funding and hedging instruments, the cost of hedging will not exceed 2.4% (up to and including 31/10/2016).

Of the new stepped IRS for a nominal amount of EUR 60 million, EUR 30 million was drawn down by 31/12/2012. The full amount of EUR 60 million will be drawn down by 1 October 2013. In this way, the Issuer paid a charge of 4.5% until 31/12/2012. This charge amounts to 2.5% from 1/01/2013 until 1/1/2017 and will then gradually rise again to 4% until 31/12/2022.

The Issuer has a further financial debt of EUR 6.4 million in relation to its current lease agreements (4.4% of the total financial debt). These seven leases (for three sites) expire between 2014 and 2017. At the time, these agreements were entered into with a fixed annuity per quarter (including interest charges).

Taking account of the lines of credit with variable interest rates, the hedging instruments and fixed interest rates on the lease agreements, the average interest charge in 2012 was 3.84% (including bank margins). The average interest charge even decreased to 3.58% during the first quarter of 2013.

Moreover each variation of the interest curve has an influence on the fair value of the IRS. The Issuer books a negative variation on the fair value of the hedging instruments when the interest rates are lower than the applied ratio of the IRS interest rates. These negative variations can influence the net result but have no influence on the net current result. In 2012 again negative variations in the fair value of hedging instruments were recorded, as a consequence of the further decrease of the interest rates.

An increase or decrease of 1 basis point in the interest rates of our debts with floating interest rates would mean an increase or decrease in the market value of financial hedging instruments by EUR 0.13 million. This sensitivity is not a cash element and would have no impact on the net current result, but rather on the net result.

Exchange rate risk

The Issuer's property portfolio consists exclusively of buildings in Belgium and France and all leases are in EURO. The Issuer is thus not exposed to any exchange rate risk.

Credit risk

The credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Issuer if a client or counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations. The management has a credit policy and the exposure to credit risk is managed on a continuous basis.

Each new tenant must be independently examined for creditworthiness before the Issuer makes a lease offer, taking into account a rental guarantee of 3 or 6 months.

Risk in relation to pending court proceedings

The Issuer has already mentioned the fact that in 2008 a third party issued a writ against the Issuer because this party was of the opinion that it was entitled to a contribution in kind by a merger or other transaction on certain premises. The Issuer had declined this contribution in kind because it was of the opinion, based on objective elements, that the contractual terms for this to be the case had not been fulfilled. The party in question claimed compensation of EUR 5.4 million from the Issuer. In the figures for 2011, a one-off provision of EUR 1.20 million was set aside for this purpose under the heading for "other operating revenue and costs". The Court of Appeal condemned the Issuer to pay EUR 1.2 million, which has already been paid. However, the Issuer has started proceedings before the Belgian Supreme Court (*Hof van Cassatie/ Cour de Cassation*).

1.1.4 Regulatory risks

Environmental permits

The Issuer or the tenants have the necessary environmental permits for the operation of all certified installations in its buildings. They are modified if (changes to) the law, the type of operation or the technical characteristics require this.

Environmental risks (state of the buildings, quality of soil, subsoil and groundwater)

Before a building is purchased, the Issuer thoroughly examines all deviations and environmental risks. To avoid any financial risk, the Issuer also performs an investigation when necessary into the quality of the soil, the subsoil and the groundwater for buildings where risk activities are or have been conducted, such as the presence of a fuel tank. In the event of proven contamination, the Issuer makes every effort to manage the potentially associated risks with due diligence in order to comply with legal or regulatory requirements. Moreover, the Issuer periodically checks its facilities that may present a risk to the soil.

Other regulatory risks

The Issuer is fully aware that changes may be made to the regulations or that new obligations may be introduced.

The Issuer could be adversely affected by European Regulations and the transposition into Belgian law of European Directives, amongst which (if the Issuer would fall within its scope) the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (AIFMD) and the European Regulation on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories (the European Market Infrastructure Regulation or EMIR).

The Issuer, in view of its status as a REIT, is currently classified under Belgian law as a "collective investment undertaking". It is therefore subject to the risk of being considered as an "alternative investment fund" (**AIF**) under the AIFMD, which should be implemented in Belgium by 22 July 2013.

If the Issuer would be considered as an AIF under the AIFMD (as implemented into Belgian Law), the Issuer's business, results of operations, profitability, financial condition and prospects would be adversely affected. The additional requirements that would follow from the application of the AIFMD would have an adverse impact on (amongst other things) the operational management of the Issuer (for example by way of the required intervention of a depositary). The Issuer would have to adapt its existing organisation, rules and procedures, which would hinder its current operational model and would require additional resources to implement and observe these new requirements. Also, if the Issuer would be qualified as an AIF, it would be adversely affected by the application of other European Regulations or the transposition into Belgian law of European Directives, which apply (or are expected to apply in a more stringent manner) to AIFs, such as EMIR. If the Issuer, as an AIF, would be subject to EMIR, it would be exposed to onerous margin calls on its hedging instruments to protect (for example) against fluctuating interest rates. Other relevant European Regulations and Directives include "Basel III" (proposal of Capital Requirement Directive and Regulation) and the "Financial Transaction Tax", which would affect the Issuer in a more onerous manner, if the Issuer were to be qualified as AIF.

New laws and regulations could enter into force or changes to existing laws and regulations (including existing administrative tax practices, such as those determined in the circular letter Ci.RH.423/567.729 of 23 December 2004 of the Belgian Minister of Finance in relation to the calculation method of the exit tax).

The Issuer is subject to corporate income tax, but its taxable base is limited to the disallowed expenses and received abnormal and benevolent advantages. The rental income, as well as the realized capital gains are therefore not included in the taxable base, which considerably reduces the taxable base. Dividend distributions are subject to a 25% withholding tax.

The Issuer calculates the real value, as referred to in the Circular Letter (referred to above), of the immovable assets, for purposes of the exit tax basis, by taking into consideration the transfer taxes or VAT that would have applied in the case of a sale of the assets concerned, as a result of which, such 'real value' as referred to in the Circular Letter, can differ from (including lower than) the fair value of the real estate recorded in the IFRS financial statements of the Issuer.

1.1.5 Risks related to the qualification as Belgian REIT or French SIIC

1.1.5.1 Belgian REIT

The Issuer is a closed-end real estate investment company (*vastgoedbevak/sicafi/REIT*) under Belgian law. In order to maintain its status as a public REIT, the Issuer must comply with certain activity restrictions, diversification requirements, restrictions at subsidiary level, leverage restrictions, profit distribution requirements, conflict of interest procedures, governance requirements and other specific requirements.

The ability of the Issuer to meet the conditions required for the maintenance of its status as a public REIT depends, amongst others, upon its ability to successfully manage its assets and indebtedness on an ongoing basis as well as on rigorous internal control procedures. The Issuer may not be able to continue to meet these requirements in the event of a change in its financial condition or for any other reason.

In case of a persistent or serious breach of the applicable legal requirements by the Issuer, the FSMA could take a variety of measures, such as the appointment of a trustee, a suspension of the trading of the Issuer's shares, a modification of the composition of the Issuer's board of directors or even a revocation of its status as a public REIT.

The loss of its status as a public REIT by the Issuer would constitute an event of default under most of the Issuer's credit facilities, and under the Conditions of the Bonds, creating liquidity and solvency

risks, and would have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's business, results of operations, profitability, financial condition and prospects. It would also cause the loss of its transparant tax treatment.

1.1.5.2 French SIIC

In France, the Issuer qualifies as a listed real estate investment company ('Société d'Investissement Immobilier Cotée' or 'SIIC'). The ability to meet the conditions required for this status depends, amongst other things, upon the Issuer's ability to successfully manage its activities and the assets allocated to such activities. Changes may occur in the Issuer's shareholding structure, which are beyond its control, such that the conditions for the SIIC regime are no longer fulfilled. The loss of its status as a SIIC would have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's business, results of operations, profitability, financial condition and prospects.

1.2 Risk factors relating to the Bonds

1.2.1 The Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Bonds must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, the merits and risks of investing in the Bonds and the information contained or incorporated by reference in the Prospectus or any applicable supplement;
- have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Bonds and the impact the Bonds will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Bonds, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- understand thoroughly the terms of the Bonds and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant financial markets; and
- be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

A potential investor should not invest in the Bonds unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Bonds will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Bonds and the impact the investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

1.2.2 Independent review and advice

Each prospective investor in the Bonds must determine, based on its own independent review and such professional advice as it deems appropriate under the circumstances, that its acquisition of the Bonds is fully consistent with its financial needs, objectives and condition, complies and is fully consistent with all investment policies, guidelines and restrictions applicable to it and is a fit, proper and suitable investment for it, notwithstanding the clear and substantial risks inherent in investing in or holding the Bonds.

1.2.3 The Issuer may not have the ability to repay the Bonds

The Issuer may not be able to repay the Bonds at their maturity. The Issuer may also be required to repay all or part of the Bonds upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 5.9 *(Events of Default)*). If the Bondholders were to ask the Issuer to repay their Bonds upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Issuer cannot be certain that it will be able to pay the required amount in full. The Issuer's ability to repay the Bonds will depend on the Issuer's financial condition at the time of the requested repayment, and may be limited by law, by the terms of its indebtedness and by the agreements that it may have entered into on or before such date, which may replace, supplement or amend its existing or future indebtedness. The Issuer's failure to repay the Bonds may result in an event of default under the terms of other outstanding indebtedness.

1.2.4 The Bonds are unsecured obligations of the Issuer, which do not benefit from any guarantee

The Bonds constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 5.4 (Negative Pledge)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer. The Bonds will at all times rank *pari passu* and without any preference among themselves, and at least equally with all other existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (save for such obligations that may be preferred by provisions of law that are mandatory and of general application). In the event of liquidation, dissolution, reorganisation, bankruptcy or similar procedure affecting the Issuer, the holders of secured indebtedness – whether contractually secured or preferred by law - will be repaid first with the proceeds of the enforcement of such security.

This risk is however mitigated as the Issuer and its Subsidiaries (as defined in Section 5 entitled "*Terms and Conditions of the Bonds*") have, at the date of the Prospectus not created any Security upon or with respect to the whole or any part of their business, undertakings, assets or revenues and as the Issuer undertakes in the Prospectus not to create or have outstanding and, as far as any Subsidiary is concerned, procure that no Subsidiary creates or has outstanding any such Security, which together with any other Security granted by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries would encumber assets whose global value would exceed 20% of the Global Fair Value of the Real Estate Assets owned by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries as these terms are defined in the Conditions (see Condition 5.10 (f)).

1.2.5 The Issuer may incur additional indebtedness

In the future, the Issuer could decide to incur additional indebtedness or further increase its indebtedness. This could have an impact on its ability to meet its obligations under the Bonds or could cause the value of the Bonds to decrease.

In order to reduce this risk, the Issuer undertakes to ensure that its level of indebtedness is limited as set out in Condition 5.10 (d).

1.2.6 No credit rating: this may render the price setting of the Bonds more difficult

The Issuer and the Bonds do not have a credit rating and the Issuer does not intend to request a credit rating for itself or the Bonds. This may impact the trading price of the Bonds and may also constitute a restriction to certain investors' investment. There is no guarantee that the price of the Bonds will cover the credit risk related to the Bonds and the Issuer. In addition, there can be no assurance that, should a rating be requested in respect of the Issuer or the Bonds, an investment grade rating would be assigned.

1.2.7 There is no guarantee to an active trading market for the Bonds: the Bonds may be illiquid

The only manner for the Bondholder to convert its investment in the Bonds into cash at its own initiative before the Maturity Date, is to sell the Bonds at the applicable market price at the moment. The price can be less than the nominal value of the Bonds.

The Issuer will file an application to have the Bonds listed on and admitted to trading on the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Brussels. The Bonds are new securities which may not be widely traded and for which there is currently no active trading market. If the Bonds are admitted to trading after their issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general economic conditions and the financial condition of the Issuer. There is no assurance that an active trading market will develop. Accordingly, there is no assurance as to the development or liquidity of any trading market for the Bonds.

The liquidity of the Bonds could also be impacted as a result of Condition 5.6.3, if the Bondholders require, in the event of a change of control as further described in the Conditions of the Bonds, the Issuer to redeem Bonds in respect of at least 85 % per cent of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding at such time and if the Issuer does not subsequently elect to redeem all of the Bonds. In such case, 15% of the Bonds or less would remain in circulation, which would imply that fewer Bondholders would be likely to sell and purchase the outstanding Bonds and that the Bonds in respect of which the optional redemption right is not exercised may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Bonds easily or at all, or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of Bonds.

1.2.8 The Bonds are exposed to market interest rate risk

The Bonds provide a fixed interest rate until the Maturity Date. Investment in the Bonds involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Bonds. The longer the maturity of bonds, the more exposed bonds are to fluctuations in market interest rates. An increase in the market interest rates can result in the Bonds trading at prices lower than the nominal amount of such Bonds.

1.2.9 The market value of the Bonds may be affected by the creditworthiness of the Issuer and other additional factors

The value of the Bonds may be affected by the creditworthiness of the Issuer and a number of additional factors, such as market interest, exchange rates and yield rates and the time remaining to the maturity date and more generally all economic, financial and political events in any country, including factors affecting capital markets generally and the stock exchanges on which the Bonds are traded. The price at which a Bondholder will be able to sell the Bonds prior to maturity may be at a discount, which could be substantial, from the issue price or the purchase price paid by such investor.

1.2.10 The Bonds may be redeemed prior to maturity

The Terms and Conditions of the Bonds provide that the Bonds are redeemable at the Issuer's option in certain limited circumstances and accordingly the Issuer may choose to redeem the outstanding Bonds. The Bonds can also be redeemed at the option of Bondholders following a change of control or an event of default as further described in the Conditions of the Bonds.

In such circumstances an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security bearing an effective interest rate as high as that which existed on the Bonds prior to redemption. Investors may receive a redemption amount which is lower than the issue price of the Bonds.

Potential investors should also be aware that the optional redemption right in the event of a Change of Control (as defined in the Conditions of the Bonds) can only be exercised provided that, prior to the occurrence of the Change of Control, (i) the Change of Control Resolutions have been approved respectively by the shareholders of the Issuer and the shareholders of Montea Management NV/SA in

a general meeting and (ii) the Change of Control resolutions have been filed with the Clerk of the Commercial Court of Dendermonde (*griffie van de rechtbank van koophandel/greffe du tribunal de commerce*). The Issuer has undertaken pursuant to Condition 5.10 (h) to use all reasonable endeavours to procure that the Change of Control Resolutions be passed at the first general meeting of shareholders of the Issuer and of Montea Management NV/SA following the Bond Issue and to file a copy of the resolution as aforesaid immediately thereafter and by 15 June 2014 at the latest. If a Change of Control occurs prior to such approval and filing or if the shareholders do not approve such Condition, Bondholders will not be entitled to exercise the option set out in Condition 5.6.3 (*Redemption upon a Change of Control of the Issuer*). There can be no assurance that such approval will be granted at such meeting.

Moreover, potential investors should be aware that, the fact of Montea Management NV/SA ceasing to be statutory director of the Issuer, shall be deemed as a Change of Control for the purposes of Condition 5.6.3, unless the General Meeting of Bondholders decides otherwise within one month following the appointment of the new statutory director.

1.2.11 The Bonds may be affected by the Eurozone crisis and the crisis in the global credit markets

Potential investors should be aware of the crisis affecting the eurozone, the turbulence in the global credit markets and the general economic outlook, which has led to a general lack of liquidity in the secondary market for instruments similar to the Bonds. The Issuer cannot predict when these circumstances will change and potential investors need to be aware of the significant uncertainty about future developments in this regard. If and when the aformentioned circumstances change, there can be no assurance that conditions of general market illiquidity for the Bonds and instruments similar to the Bonds will not return in the future. This situation may also have a potential effect on the ability of the Issuer to repay the Bonds.

1.2.12 Bondholders do not have the same rights as shareholders and may be less protected in some regards

Shares and bonds are two distinct types of securities. The Bond does not represent ownership in the Issuer. The Bondholders own a share of the debt of the Issuer and are entitled to receive the interest payments on the Interest Payment Dates stipulated in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds (see Section 5). Unlike the shareholders, the Bondholders have no voting rights in the annual meeting of shareholders. As such the Bondholders' influence in the operation of the Issuer is limited. The shareholder owns a share of the equity of a company and has voting rights. Shareholders can influence the business activities if they own enough shares to do so, which a Bondholder cannot. Shareholders are entitled to receive dividends under certain circumstances, whereas Bondholders are not entitled to receive dividends.

1.2.13 Modification to the Conditions of the Bonds can be imposed on all Bondholders upon approval by defined majorities of Bondholders

The Conditions may be subject to modifications and waivers that can be resolved by means of a decision of the general meeting of Bondholders in accordance with the provisions of Article 568 *et seq.* of the Belgian Companies Code (see Condition 5.13 entitled "General meetings of Bondholders and modification of the Conditions").

These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Bondholders including Bondholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Bondholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

1.2.14 The Bonds may be exposed to exchange rate risks

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Bonds in Euro. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit other than the Euro. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Euro or revaluation of the investor's currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the investor's currency may impose or modify exchange controls.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal at all.

1.2.15 Risk of inflation

The inflation risk is the risk of future value of money. The actual yield of an investment in the Bonds is being reduced by inflation. The higher the rate of inflation, the lower the actual yield of a Bond will be. If the rate of inflation is equal to or higher than the nominal output of the Bonds, then the actual output is equal to zero, or the actual yield will even be negative.

1.2.16 EU Savings Directive

Under Council Directive 2003/48/EC regarding the taxation of savings income (hereinafter referred to as the **EU Savings Directive**), EU Member States are required to provide to the tax authorities of another EU Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other EU Member State or to certain limited types of entities established in that other EU Member State. However, for a transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU countries and territories including Switzerland have adopted similar measures (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland). The Belgian State elected to abandon the transitional withholding system and provides information in accordance with the EU Savings Directive as of 1 January 2010.

The European Commission has proposed certain amendments to the EU Savings Directive which may, if implemented, amend or broaden the scope of the requirements described above. Potential investors who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their own independent tax advisers.

If a payment were to be made or collected through a paying agent established in any other state which applies the withholding tax system and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, neither the Issuer nor the paying agent nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts to the Bondholders or to otherwise compensate Bondholders for the reductions in the amounts that they will receive as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax.

1.2.17 Payments made in respect of the Bonds may be subject to Belgian withholding tax

If the Issuer or any other person is required by law to make any withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties or charges of whatever nature in respect of any payment in respect of the Bonds, the Issuer or that other person shall make such payment after such withholding or deduction has been made and will account to the relevant authorities for the amount so required to be withheld or deducted.

Potential investors should be aware that, in such case, neither the Issuer, the NBB, the Agent or any other person will be liable for or otherwise obliged to pay, and the relevant Bondholders will be liable

for and/or pay, any tax, duty, charge, withholding or other payment whatsoever which may arise as a result of, or in connection with, the ownership, any transfer and/or any payment in respect of the Bonds, except as provided for in Condition 5.8 entitled "*Tax Compensation*".

1.2.18 Taxation

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Bonds should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or other documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Bonds are transferred or other jurisdictions. Potential investors are advised not to rely upon the tax summary contained in this Securities Note, but to ask for their own tax advisor's advice on their individual taxation with respect to the acquisition, sale and redemption of the Bonds. Only these advisors are in position to duly consider the specific situation of the potential investor. This investment consideration has to be read in connection with the taxation sections of this Prospectus (see Section 9 entitled "*Tax*"). In addition, potential purchasers should be aware that tax regulations and their application by the relevant taxation authorities change from time to time. Accordingly, it is not possible to predict the precise tax treatment which will apply at any given time.

1.2.19 Changes in Belgian law including Belgian tax law

The Conditions of the Bonds are based on the laws of the Kingdom of Belgium in effect as at the time of the date of this Securities Note. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to the laws of the Kingdom of Belgium, the official application, interpretation or the administrative practice after the date of this Securities Note. The tax rules as described in Section 9 entitled "*Tax*" have only been recently introduced (as a result of which there is no established practice as to their interpretation) and may change.

1.2.20 Belgian insolvency laws

The Issuer is subject to applicable insolvency laws. In the event of an insolvency of the Issuer, the application of these insolvency laws may substantially affect the Bondholders' claims to obtain repayment in full of the Bonds, e.g. through a suspension of payments, enforcement measures or an order providing for partial repayment of the Bonds only. During an insolvency procedure the Bondholders will stop receiving interest and principal payments. Court decisions may impact the repayment of the Bond if at all.

1.2.21 The Agent is not required to segregate amounts received by it in respect of Bonds cleared through the Clearing System

The Conditions of the Bonds and the Agency Agreement provide that the Agent will debit the relevant account of the Issuer and use such funds to make payment to the Bondholders and that the payment obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds will be discharged by payment to the Agent in respect of each amount so paid. The Agency Agreement provides that the Agent will, after receipt by it of the relevant amounts, pay to the Bondholders, directly or through the Clearing System, any amounts due in respect of the relevant Bonds. However, the Agent is not required to segregate any such amounts received by it in respect of the Bonds, and in the event that the Agent were subject to insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings at any time when it held any such amounts, Bondholders would not have any further claim against the Issuer in respect of such amounts, and would be required to claim such amounts from the Agent in accordance with applicable Belgian insolvency and bankruptcy laws.

1.2.22 Legal, regulatory and compliance investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal, regulatory and compliance investment provisions, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) Bonds are legal investments for it, (ii) Bonds can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing, and (iii) other restrictions apply

to its purchase or pledge of any Bonds. The investors should consult their legal advisers to determine the appropriate treatment of Bonds under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

1.2.23 The Agent does not assume any fiduciary duties or other obligations to the Bondholders and, in particular, is not obliged to make determinations which protect their interests

Bank Degroof NV/SA will act as the Issuer's domiciliary, calculation, paying and listing agent. In its capacity as Agent, it will act in accordance with the Conditions of the Bonds in good faith and endeavour at all times to make its determinations in a commercially reasonable manner. However, Bondholders should be aware that the Agent does not assume any fiduciary or other obligations to the Bondholders and, in particular, is not obliged to make determinations which protect or further the interests of the Bondholders.

The Agent may rely on any information that is reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been originated by the proper parties. The Agent shall not be liable for the consequences to any person (including Bondholders) of any errors or omissions in (i) the calculation by the Agent of any amount due in respect of the Bonds or (ii) any determination made by the Agent in relation to the Bonds or interests, in each case in the absence of bad faith or wilful default. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Agent shall not be liable for the consequences to any person (including Bondholders) of any such errors or omissions arising as a result of (i) any information provided to the Agent proving to have been incorrect or incomplete or (ii) any relevant information not being provided to the Agent on a timely basis.

1.2.24 Potential Conflicts of Interest

The Issuer may from time to time be engaged in transactions which may affect the market price, liquidity or value of the Bonds and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of the Bondholders.

Potential investors should be aware that the Issuer is involved in a general business relation or/and in specific transactions with the Joint Lead Managers and that it might have conflicts of interests which could have an adverse effect to the interests of the Bondholders.

Within the framework of normal business relationship with its banks, the Issuer has entered into debt financings. The terms and conditions of these debt financings may differ or differ from the terms and conditions of the proposed Bonds and certain of the terms and conditions of such debt financings could be or are stricter or more extensive than the terms and conditions of the proposed Bonds. The terms and conditions of these debt financings may contain or contain financial covenants, such as a minimum equity level or the gearing ratio, different from or not included in the Conditions of the proposed Bonds.

In addition, as part of these debt financings, the lenders may have or have the benefit of security interests granted by the Issuer or its Subsidiaries, whereas the Bondholders will not have the benefit from similar security interests. This results in the Bondholders being subordinated to the lenders under such debt financings.

The Bondholders should be aware of the fact that the Joint Lead Managers, when they act as lenders to the Issuer or another company within the Group (or when they act in any other capacity whatsoever), have no fiduciary duties or other duties of any nature whatsoever vis-à-vis the Bondholders and that they are under no obligation to take into account the interests of the Bondholders. The Joint Lead Managers, as lenders of the Issuer, may have interests that are different from and/or adverse to the interests of the Bondholders during the term of the Bonds.

The Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates have engaged in, and may in the future engage in, investment banking and other commercial dealings in the ordinary course of business with the Issuer

or its affiliates. They have received, or may in the future receive, customary fees and commissions for these transactions. In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or its affiliates. The Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. These diverging interests may manifest themselves amongst other things in case of an event of default for any of the credit facilities granted by the Joint Lead Managers before the maturity of the Bonds or in case of a mandatory early repayment and may have a negative impact on the repayment capacity of the Issuer. It is not excluded that these credit facilities will be repaid before the maturity of the Bonds. The Joint Lead Managers do not have any obligation to take into account the interests of the Bondholders when exercising their respective rights as lenders under the aforementioned credit facilities. Any full or partial repayment of credit facilities granted by the Joint Lead Managers will, at that time, have a favourable impact on the exposure of the Joint Lead Manager vis-à-vis the Issuer.

Belfius Insurance NV/SA, a subsidiary of Belfius Bank NV/SA, holds 648.873 shares in the Issuer representing 10.06% of its share capital. Belfius Insurance NV/SA, represented by Dirk Vanderschrick, is also a member of the board of directors of the Issuer.

2 IMPORTANT INFORMATION

2.1 Responsible persons

The Issuer, Montea Comm. VA, a partnership limited by shares (*commanditaire vennootschap op aandelen/société en commandite par actions*), public closed-end real estate investment company (*openbare vastgoedbeleggingsvennootschap met vast kapitaal/société d'investissement à capital fixe immobilière publique*) under Belgian law, having its registered office in 9320 Erembodegem (Belgium), Industrielaan 27, enterprise number (RLE Dendermonde) 0417.186.211, represented by its statutory director Montea Management NV, a limited liability company (*naamloze vennootschap, société anonyme*), under Belgian law, having its registered office in 9320 Erembodegem (Belgium), Industrielaan 27, enterprise number (RLE Dendermonde) 0882.872.026, accepts responsibility for the information contained in the Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in the Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

Market data and other statistical information used in the Prospectus have been extracted from a number of sources, including independent industry publications, government publications, reports by market research firms or other independent publications. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by the relevant independent source, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

Save for the Issuer, no other party has independently verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Joint Lead Managers as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated in the Prospectus or any other information in connection with the Issuer or the offering of the Bonds. The Joint Lead Managers do not accept any liability, whether arising in tort or in contract or in any other event, in relation to the information contained or incorporated by reference in the Prospectus or any other information in connection with the Issuer, the offering of the Bonds or the distribution of the Bonds.

No person is or has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with the Prospectus and any information or representation not so contained or inconsistent with the Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the Bonds and, if given or made, such information must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers.

2.2 Warning

The Prospectus has been prepared to provide information on the listing of the Bonds. When potential investors make a decision to invest in the Bonds, they should base this decision on their own research of the Issuer and the conditions of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, the associated benefits and risks, as well as the conditions of the offer itself. The investors must themselves assess, with their own advisors if necessary, whether the Bonds are suitable for them, considering their personal income and financial situation. In case of any doubt about the risk involved in purchasing the Bonds, investors should abstain from investing in the Bonds. The summaries and descriptions of legal provisions, taxation, accounting principles or comparisons of such principles, legal company forms or contractual relationships reported in the Prospectus may in no circumstances be interpreted as investment, legal or tax advice for potential investors. Potential investors are urged to consult their own advisor, bookkeeper, accountant or other advisors concerning the legal, tax, economic, financial and other aspects associated with the subscription to the Bonds.

In the event of important new developments, material errors or inaccuracies that could affect the assessment of the Bonds, and which occur or are identified between the time of the approval of the Prospectus and the time at which trading on a regulated market commences, the Issuer will have a supplement to the Prospectus published containing this information. This supplement will be published in compliance with at least the same regulations as the Prospectus, and will be published on the website of the Issuer (www.montea.com). The Issuer must ensure that this supplement is published as soon as possible after the occurrence of such new significant factor.

Neither the Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the admission to trading of the Bonds (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers that any recipient of the Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the offering of the Bonds should purchase any Bonds. Each investor contemplating a purchase of the Bonds should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Neither the Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the offering of the Bonds constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Bonds.

Some statements in the Prospectus may be deemed to be forward looking statements. Forward looking statements include statements concerning the Issuer's plans, objectives, goals, strategies, future operations and performance and the assumptions underlying these forward looking statements. When used in the Prospectus, the words "anticipates", "estimates", "expects", "believes", "intends", "plans", "aims", "seeks", "may", "will", "should" and any similar expressions generally identify forward looking statements. The Issuer has based these forward looking statements on the current view of its management with respect to future events and financial performance. Although the Issuer believes that the expectations, estimates and projections reflected in its forward looking statements are reasonable as of the date of the Prospectus, if one or more of the risks or uncertainties materialise, including those identified below or which the Issuer has otherwise identified in the Prospectus, or if any of the Issuer's underlying assumptions prove to be incomplete or inaccurate, the Issuer's actual results of operation may vary from those expected, estimated or predicted.

Any forward looking statements contained in the Prospectus speak only as at the date of the Prospectus. Without prejudice to any requirements under applicable laws and regulations, the Issuer expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to disseminate after the date of the Prospectus any updates or revisions to any forward looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in expectations thereof or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such forward looking statement is based.

Neither the delivery of the Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that the information contained in the Prospectus is true subsequent to the date hereof or otherwise that there has been no change in the affairs or in the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which the Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or any other information supplied in connection with the Bonds is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Joint Lead Managers and the Issuer expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Bonds.

The Prospectus contains various amounts and percentages which are rounded and, as result, when these amounts and percentages are added up, they may not total.

The Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with (the relevant parts of) all the documents which are incorporated herein by reference, see Section 3 entitled "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*". The Prospectus shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated in and form part of the Prospectus.

2.3 Important information relating to the use of the Prospectus and offer of Bonds generally

The Prospectus has been approved for the purposes of the listing of the Bonds on NYSE Euronext Brussels and the admission to trading of the Bonds on the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Brussels and does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy the Bonds in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. The Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that all offers of the Bonds will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive in member states of the European Economic Area (the EEA) which have implemented the Prospectus Directive (each a Relevant Member State), from the requirement to produce a prospectus for offers of the Bonds. Any person making or intending to make any offer in a Relevant Member State or elsewhere of the Bonds should only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers to produce a prospectus for such offer. The distribution of the Prospectus and the offer or sale of Bonds may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. The Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers do not represent that the Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that the Bonds may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers which is intended to permit a public offering of the Bonds or the distribution of the Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Bonds may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither the Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession the Prospectus or any Bonds may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution of the Prospectus and the offering and sale of Bonds.

The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the **Securities Act**), or the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. The Bonds are being offered and sold solely outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act (**Regulation S**). The Bonds may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S) unless they have been so registered or pursuant to an available exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. For a further description of certain restrictions on the offering and sale of the Bonds and on the distribution of this document, see Section 10 entitled "*Subscription and Sale*" below. All references in this document to **Euro**, **EUR** and \notin refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

2.4 Available information

This Securities Note is available in English, while the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds are available both in English and in Dutch. The Registration Document is available in Dutch, French and English. Printed versions of the Prospectus will be available on request from 2 July 2013, from the Issuer, Bank Degroof NV/SA or Belfius Bank NV/SA. The prospectus may also be consulted at the websites below: Montea (www.montea.com), Bank Degroof NV/SA (www.degroof.be) and Belfius Bank NV/SA (www.belfius.be/montea).

In case of any inconsistency, the original English language version of the Prospectus shall prevail.

2.5 Further information

For more information about the Issuer, please contact:

Montea Comm. VA Industrielaan 27 9320 Erembodegem (Aalst) Belgium Tel: +32 (0)53 82 62 62 www.montea.com

3 DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The Prospectus is composed of the Issuer's annual financial report 2012, which is a Registration Document within the meaning of Article 28 of the Prospectus Law, and this Securities Note. The Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with (the relevant parts of) all documents incorporated by reference (as mentioned below). The Prospectus has been approved by the FSMA in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus Law on 2 July 2013. The FSMA's approval does not imply any judgement on the merits or the quality of the transaction or the Issuer.

These documents, which have been filed with the FSMA, shall be incorporated in, and form part of, the Prospectus, save that any statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or superseded for the purpose of the Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of the Prospectus.

The documents incorporated by reference are: (i) the Issuer's annual report 2010, (ii) the Issuer's annual report 2011, (iii) the Issuer's annual report 2012 and (iv) the press releases published since 1 January 2013.

The statutory auditor of the Issuer, Ernst & Young Bedrijfsrevisoren/Réviseurs d'Entreprises (having its registered office at 1831 Diegem, Belgium, De Kleetlaan 2), represented by Christel Weymeersch, a member of the "*Institut des Réviseurs d'Entreprises/Instituut van de Bedrijfsrevisoren*", has audited, and rendered audit reports on the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended 31 December 2012, 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010. The Issuer confirms that it has obtained the approval from its statutory auditor to incorporate those documents.

Copies of the aformentioned documents incorporated by reference may be obtained (free of charge) from the registered offices of the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers, or on the website of the Issuer (www.montea.com).

Annual report 2012 (Registration Document)

Annual report 2011

-	Risk factors	4
-	Management report	17
	o Strategy	17
	• Report of the real estate expert	18
-	Consolidated annual accounts	44
-	Report of the statutory auditor	122
-	Permanent documents	133

Annual report 2010

-	Risk factors	5	
-	Management report	16	
	• Strategy	16	
	 Conclusions of the real estate expert 	37	
-	Consolidated annual accounts	39	
-	Report of the statutory auditor 1		
-	General information	109	

Press releases

- <u>Press release dated 18 January 2013</u>: (in Dutch) Notification pursuant to the Law of 2 May 2007
- Press release dated 7 February 2013: MONTEA: Annual results 01/01/2012 to 31/12/2012
- <u>Press release dated 27 February 2013</u>: (in Dutch) Rectification of the notification pursuant to the law of 2 May 2007
- <u>Press release dated 22 March 2013</u>: DHL Global Forwarding Building Unveiled at Brussels Airport
- <u>Press release dated 7 May 2013</u>: MONTEA signs two new long-term lease agreements in Belgium and in France
- <u>Press release dated 16 May 2013</u>: MONTEA: Interim statement from 01/01/2013 to 31/03/2013
- <u>Press release dated 17 May 2013:</u> (in Dutch and French) Conditions of the optional dividend
- <u>Press release dated 11 June 2013:</u> (in Dutch and French) Montea solidifies its growth
- <u>Press release dated 19 June 2013:</u> (in Dutch and French) Results of the optional dividend
- <u>Press release dated 20 June 2013:</u> (in Dutch and French) Rectification of the press release of 19 June 2013
- <u>Press release dated 24 June 2013:</u> (in Dutch and French) Montea realizes a successful private placement of bonds

4 ESSENTIAL INFORMATION

The following persons could potentially have conflicts of interest in the Bond Issue if they would intend to subscribe to the Bonds and or acquire any of the Bonds subsequently:

- the statutory director of the Issuer, Montea Management NV/SA;
- members of the De Pauw family, being Dirk De Pauw, Marie Christine De Pauw, Bernadette De Pauw, Dominika De Pauw and Beatrijs De Pauw;
- the directors of Montea Management NV/SA and their respective permanent representatives;
- the shareholders (i) Banimmo NV/SA, (ii) Federale Assurance, Association d'Assurances Mutuelles sur la Vie and (iii) Belfius Insurance NV/SA.

Both Federale Assurance, Association d'Assurances Mutuelles sur la Vie and Belfius Insurance NV/SA have indicated to be willing to subscribe to part of the Bonds. Consequently the board of directors applied the provisions of article 523 of the Companies Code when resolving on the bond Issue. The other directors have confirmed not to subscribe to any of the Bonds.

Pursuant to article 523 of the Companies Code Federal Assurance, Association d'Assurances Mutuelles sur la Vie and Belfius Insurance NV/SA have, prior to the deliberation on the decision with regard to the bond issue, notified the other directors. Both directors left the meeting of the board of directors during the deliberation and resolution on the bond issue. The minutes of the board include the notification as well as the reasons for the conflict of interest. The minutes also describe the nature of the decision or transaction, the justification of the decision as well as the financial consequences of the decision for the Issuer. An extract of these minutes will be included in the annual report with regard to the Issuer's financial year ending on 31 December 2013. The statutory auditor was informed as well of the conflict of interest.

The Joint Lead Managers may hold from time to time debt securities, shares or/and other financial instruments of the Issuer. In particular, Belfius Insurance NV/SA, a subsidiary of Belfius Bank NV/SA, holds 648.873 shares in the Issuer representing 10.06% of its share capital. Belfius Insurance NV/SA, represented by Dirk Vanderschrick, is also a member of the board of directors of the Issuer.

The Joint Lead Managers are lender under the facility agreements and may in the future render additional banking and commercial services to the Issuer, for which they could receive fees and commissions.

5 TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS

The following represent the terms and conditions of the Bonds (the **Conditions**) save for the paragraph in italics that shall be read as complementary information.

The issue of the 4.107 per cent fixed rated Bonds due 28 June 2020 for an aggregate amount of EUR 30,000,000.- (the **Bonds**) was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of Montea Management NV/SA, statutory director of Montea Comm. VA (the **Issuer**) passed on 11 June 2013.

The Bonds are issued in conformity with the agency agreement dated on or around the Issue Date (the **Agency Agreement**, as amended or subsequently adjusted, as the case may be), concluded between the Issuer and Bank Degroof NV/SA acting as domiciliary agent, listing agent and paying agent (the **Agent**, such term including any successor under the Agency Agreement).

These Conditions include a summary of provisions of the Agency Agreement as well as the clearing services agreement (*Overeenkomst van dienstverlening inzake de uitgifte van gedematerialiseerde obligaties/Convention de services de clearing relatifs à l'émission d'obligations dématérialisées*) relating to the Bond Issue, which is to be concluded on or around the Issue Date between the Issuer, the Agent and the National Bank of Belgium (the **Clearing Agreement**). The Agency Agreement and the Clearing Agreement may be consulted during the opening hours of the Agent's office at the following address: rue de l'Industrie 44, B-1040 Brussels. Such agreements solely provide for rights and obligations for the Issuer, the Agent and, as the case may be, the National Bank of Belgium (the **NBB**), and the Bondholders cannot derive any right, directly or indirectly, on the Issuer, the Agent or the NBB. In these Conditions, any reference to the Conditions is to be understood as a reference to the paragraphs below, unless the context requires a different interpretation.

5.1 Form and Nominal Value of the Bonds

The Bonds are issued in dematerialised form in accordance with Article 468 et seq. of the Belgian Companies Code (*Wetboek van vennootschappen/Code des sociétés*) and cannot be physically delivered. The Bonds will be exclusively represented by book entry in the records of the clearing system operated by the NBB or any successor thereto (the **Clearing System**).

The Bonds can be held by their holders through participants in the Clearing System, including Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, and through any other financial intermediaries which in turn hold the Bonds through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, or other participants in the Clearing System. The Bonds are accepted for clearance through the Clearing System, and are accordingly subject to the applicable Belgian regulations on clearing of financial securities, including the Belgian law of 6 August 1993 on transactions in certain securities, its implementing Royal Decrees of 26 May 1994 and 14 June 1994, and the rules of the Clearing System and its annexes, as issued or modified by the NBB (the laws, decrees and rules mentioned in this Condition being referred to herein as the **Clearing System Regulations**). Title to the Bonds will pass by account transfer. The Bonds may not be exchanged for bonds in bearer form.

If at any time the Bonds are transferred to another clearing system, not operated or not exclusively operated by the NBB, these provisions shall apply *mutatis mutandis* to such successor clearing system and successor clearing system operator or any additional clearing system and additional clearing system, an **Alternative Clearing System**).

The address of the NBB is as follows: Boulevard de Berlaimont 14, 1000 Brussels.

Bondholders are entitled to exercise the rights they have, including voting rights, making requests, giving consents, and other associative rights (as defined for the purposes of Article 474 of the Belgian

Companies Code) upon submission of a certificate drawn up by the NBB, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other participant duly licensed in Belgium to keep dematerialised securities accounts showing such holder's position in the Bonds (or the position held by the financial institution through which such holder's Bonds are held with the NBB, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such other participant, in which case a certificate drawn up by that financial institution will also be required).

The Bonds are denominated in Euros (EUR or ϵ). The Bonds are in nominal amounts of EUR 100,000 each (the Nominal Value).

5.2 Status

The Bonds constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 5.4 (Negative Pledge)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer. The Bonds will at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves, and at least equally with all other existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (save for such obligations that may be preferred by provisions of law that are mandatory and of general application).

5.3 Definitions

In these Conditions, unless provided otherwise:

"Agent" has the meaning set out in the introductive paragraph of Section 5;

"Alternative Clearing System" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.1;

"Bonds" has the meaning set out in the introduction to these Conditions;

"**Bondholder**" means, in respect of any Bond, the person entitled thereto in accordance with the Belgian Companies Code and the Clearing System Regulations;

"**Business Day**" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for regular business in Brussels;

"Change of Control" has the meaning provided in Condition 5.6.3;

"**Change of Control Resolutions**" means one or more decisions validly taken by the general meeting of Shareholders of the Issuer and the general meeting of shareholders of its statutory director Montea Management NV/SA approving Condition 5.6.3;

"Clearing Agreement" has the meaning set out in the introductive paragraph of Section 5;

"Clearing System" has the meaning provided in Condition 5.1;

"Clearing System Regulations" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.1;

"**Consolidated EBITDA**" means, in respect of any Relevant Period, the "Operating Result before Result on Portfolio", as the foregoing appears from the relevant consolidated financial statements (see REIT Royal Decree, Annex C, Chapter 2, Part I, Section 2: I – XV (*Operationeel resultaat vóór het resultaat op de portefeuille/ Résultat d'exploitation avant résultat sur portefeuille*);

"**Consolidated Gearing**" means the ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to the total assets of the Issuer Group in accordance with the calculation methods imposed by Article 53, §1 of the REIT Royal Decree, as each of the foregoing appears from the relevant consolidated annual c.q. semi-annual statements, as at the accounts date of such annual c.q. semi-annual financial statements;

"**Consolidated Total Debt**" means, at any time, Total Debt calculated at Issuer Group level as defined in Article 27,§ 1, 2nd indent of the REIT Royal Decree;

"**Control**" has the meaning set out in Article 5 to 9 (included) of the Belgian Companies Code, unless provided otherwise in these Conditions;

"Early Redemption Amount" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.6.3(i);

"Early Redemption Date" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.6.3(i);

"Early Redemption Notice" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.6.3(ii);

"Early Redemption Period" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.6.3(i);

"Early Redemption Request Notice" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.6.3(i);

"Event of Default" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.9;

"**Finance Charges**" means, for any Relevant Period, the aggregate amount of consolidated financial charges of the Issuer Group less consolidated financial income of the Issuer Group, not taking into account the negative or positive valuation on financial instruments (IAS 39) expressed in the profit and loss account, as each of the foregoing appears from the relevant consolidated financial statements (XX, Financial earnings, XXI net interest costs, XXII other financial costs as referred to in Annex C Chapter 1 Section 2 of the REIT Royal Decree);

"Financial Indebtedness" means any present or future indebtedness (whether being principal, premium, interest or other amount) for or in respect of

- (a) money borrowed,
- (b) any amount raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility or dematerialised equivalent,
- (c) any amount raised pursuant to any note purchase facility or the issue of bonds, debentures, debenture stock, loan capital, loan stock, certificates of deposit, commercial paper or other securities offered, issued or distributed, either by way of public offer, private placing, acquisition consideration or otherwise and whether issued for cash in whole or in part for a consideration other than cash,
- (d) the amount of any liability in respect of any lease or hire purchase contract which could, in accordance with IFRS, be treated as a finance or capital lease,
- (e) receivables sold or discounted (other than any receivables to the extent they are sold on a non-recourse basis),
- (f) any amount of any liability under an advance or deferred purchase agreement if the primary reason behind the entry into of that agreement is to raise finance, or
- (g) amounts raised under any other transactions having the commercial effect of a borrowing and which is treated as a borrowing under IFRS;

"**Financial Statements**" means (i) the Issuer's audited annual consolidated financial statements; and (ii) its half-yearly consolidated financial statements;

"FSMA" means the Belgian Financial Services and Markets Authority;

"Gearing" means, the ratio of Total Debt to the total assets of the Issuer, in accordance with the calculation methods imposed by the REIT Royal Decree, as each of the foregoing appears from the relevant statutory annual c.q. semi-annual statements, as at the accounts date of such annual c.q. semi-annual financial statements;

"Global Fair Value of the Real Estate Asset" has the meaning provided to the term "totale reële waarde van het vastgoed/juste valeur globale des biens immobiliers" in article 57 of the REIT Royal Decree;

"**Interest Cover**" means the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to Finance Charges in respect of any Relevant Period, in accordance with the calculation methods imposed by Article 55 of the REIT Royal Decree, as each of the foregoing appears from the relevant consolidated financial statements;

"Interest Payment Date" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.5.1;

"Interest Period" means:

- (a) the period beginning on (and including) the Issue Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date; and
- (b) each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date;

"Issue Date" means 28 June 2013;

"**Issuer**" means Montea Comm.VA/SCA a Belgian partnership limited by shares (*commanditaire vennootschap op aandelen/société en commandite par actions*) having its registered seat at Industrielaan 27, 9320 Erembodegem (Belgium) and registered with the Crossroads Bank for Enterprises under number (RLE Dendermonde) 0417.186.211;

"Issuer Group" means the Issuer and each of its Subsidiaries from time to time;

"Long Stop Date" means 15 June 2014;

"Maturity Date" means 28 June 2020;

"Nominal Amount" means EUR 100,000 per Bond;

"Nominal Interest Rate" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.5.1;

"Nominal Value" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.1;

"Permitted Restructurings" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.10 (g);

"**Personal Security**" means in relation to any Financial Indebtedness of any person, any obligation of another person to pay such Financial Indebtedness including (without limitation): (a) any obligation to purchase such Financial Indebtedness; (b) any obligation to lend money or to provide funds for the payment of such Financial Indebtedness; (c) any indemnity against the consequences of a default in the payment of such Financial Indebtedness; and (d) any other agreement to be liable for such Financial Indebtedness;

"**REIT Royal Decree**" means the Royal Decree of 7 december 2010 with regard to REITs (*Koninklijk Besluit van 7 december 2010 met betrekking tot vastgoedbevaks/Arrêté Royal du 7 décembre 2010 relatif aux sicafis*), as amended from time to time;

"Relevant Date" means, in connection with any Bond, the last of the following dates:

- (a) the date at which payment is due in respect of the Bond; and
- (b) if an amount payable in respect of the Bond is improperly withheld or refused, (i) the date at which payment of the unpaid amount is made in full or (ii) if prior to such date, the date at which the Issuer notifies the Bondholders pursuant to Condition 5.13, that payment is to be made, as long as such payment is made as provided in the Conditions of this Agreement;

"**Relevant Financial Indebtedness**" means any present or future Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Subsidiary in the form of, or represented by, bonds, notes, or other transferable securities (*effecten/valeurs mobilières*) which are for the time being, or are capable of being, quoted, listed or ordinarily dealt in or traded on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or other securities market;

"**Relevant Period**" means each period of 12 months ending on the last day of a financial year of the Issuer and each period of 12 months ending on the last day of the first half of the financial year of the Issuer;

"Security" means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or any other form of encumbrance or security interest or any mandate to create the same, including, without limitation, anything analogous to any of the foregoing under the laws of any jurisdiction;

"Shareholders" refers to holders of Shares;

"Shares" means any ordinary (whether called or uncalled) shares of the capital of the Issuer conferring to its shareholders voting rights in the general assembly of the Issuer's Shareholders;

"Subscription Period" means the period between 19 June 2013 and 25 June 2013 (included);

"Subsidiary" (*dochtervennootschap/filiale*) of a company shall have the meaning as set forth in Article 6, 2° of the Belgian Companies Code

"**Total Debt**" has the meaning provided to the term debt charge (*schuldenlast/endettement*) in Article 27 § 1, second, third and fourth indent of the REIT Royal Decree;

"**TARGET System**" means Transeuropean Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer System 2 (TARGET2), or any successor thereto;

"Taxes" has the meaning set out in Condition 5.8.

5.4 Negative pledge

So long as any Bond remains outstanding, neither the Issuer nor any Subsidiary will create or have outstanding any Security upon or with respect to the whole or any part of their present or future business, undertaking, assets or revenues (including any uncalled capital) to secure any existing or future Relevant Financial Indebtedness, or to secure any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any existing or future Relevant Financial Indebtedness, unless at the latest at such time, the Issuer undertakes that the Bonds are secured by the same Security and at the same rank.

For the purpose of this Condition 5.4, a Bond will be considered as outstanding (a) if it was issued but not entirely redeemed pursuant to these Conditions or (b) as long as the Agent did not perform the payment relating to such Bond to the Bondholders via the Clearing System, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, pursuant to these Conditions.

The prohibition contained in this Condition 5.4 (Negative Pledge) does not apply to Security existing prior to any entity becoming a Subsidiary (provided that such Security Interest was not created or assumed in contemplation of such company or other entity becoming a Subsidiary of the Issuer and that the principal amount of such indebtedness was not subsequently increased).

5.5 Interest

5.5.1 Interest rate and Interest Payment Dates

Subject to an increase as described in Condition 5.6.3 (iii), each Bond bears a nominal annual interest rate of 4.107 per cent (the **Nominal Interest Rate**). Each Bond bears interest from the Issue Date (included) at the Nominal Interest Rate payable annually in arrears on 28 June of each year (the **Interest Payment Date**), with the first Interest Payment Date falling on 28 June 2014. Interest in respect of any period which is shorter than an Interest Period shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days spent (on the basis of one year of 365 days or 366 for bissextile years). If an Interest Payment Date is not a Business Day, the payment will be due on the next Business Day. Such postponement of the Interest Payment Date does not give right to additional interest or any other payment.

5.5.2 Accrual of interest

Each Bond will cease to bear interest from and including the date of its redemption or repayment unless payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused at such date or unless default is otherwise made in respect of payment. In such event interest will continue to accrue at the rate specified in Condition 5.5.1 (both before and after judgment) until the day on which all sums due in respect of such Bond up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Bondholder.

5.6 Redemption and purchase

5.6.1 Final redemption

Unless previously purchased and cancelled or redeemed as herein provided, the Bonds have a maturity of 7 (seven) years and will be redeemed at their Nominal Amount on the Maturity Date. If the Maturity Date is not a Business Day, the redemption shall be due the next Business Day. This postponement of the Maturity Date does not give right to additional interest or any other payment.

5.6.2 Redemption for taxation reasons

The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any Interest Payment Date, subject to serving a prior notice of not less than 30 nor more than 60 days before such redemption to the Bondholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), if:

- (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts pursuant to Condition 5.8, as a result of (a) any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of, or applicable in, the Kingdom of Belgium or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or (b) any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change, amendment, application or interpretation becomes effective on or after the Issue Date, and
- (ii) such obligation as referred to in (i) above cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it.

In such case, the Bonds will be redeemed at their Nominal Amount, together with interest accrued up to the date of redemption.

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 5.6.2, the Issuer shall deliver, and shall ensure that is delivered, to the Agent (i) a certificate signed by the statutory director (*statutaire zaakvoerder/gérant statutaire*) of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and (ii) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change, amendment, application or interpretation.

At the date of redemption mentioned in the notice, the Issuer will have to redeem the Bonds as referred to in the notice, in accordance with the regulations set out in this Condition 5.6.2.

5.6.3 Redemption upon a Change of Control of the Issuer

(i) Optional Redemption

In the event that a Change of Control (as defined hereunder) occurs, the holder of each Bond will have the right (but not the obligation) to require the Issuer to redeem all the Bonds it holds, as herein provided, at the Early Redemption Date and at the Early Redemption Amount.

To exercise such right, the relevant Bondholder will deliver, at any time during the Early Redemption Period, to the financial intermediary where the Bonds are held, a duly completed and signed notice of exercise that shall be in conformity in substance, form and content with the model in Schedule 1 (an **Early Redemption Request Notice**). By delivering an Early Redemption Request Notice, the Bondholder shall undertake to hold the Bonds up to the date of effective redemption of the Bonds.

Payment in respect of any such Bond being the subject of the Early Redemption Request Notice shall be made by transfer to a Euro account maintained with a bank in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System as specified by the relevant Bondholder to the financial intermediary at which the Bonds are held.

The Early Redemption Request Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and the Issuer shall redeem all Bonds being the subject of such Early Redemption Request Notice delivered as aforesaid on the Early Redemption Date.

If, as a result of this Condition 5.6.3, holders of the Bonds submit Early Redemption Request Notices in respect of at least 85 % per cent of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding at such time, the Issuer may, having given a notice of not less than 10 (ten) nor more than 20 (twenty) Business Days to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 5.13, redeem all of the Bonds then outstanding at the relevant Early Redemption Amount.

This notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption of the Bonds. Payment in respect of any such Bond shall be made as specified above.

For the purposes of this Condition 5.6.3:

- A "Change of Control" shall be deemed to have occurred if:
 - an offer is made by any person to all (or as nearly as may be practicable all) (i) shareholders (or all (or as nearly as may be practicable all) such shareholders other than the offeror and/or any parties acting in concert (as defined in Article 3, paragraph 1, 5° of the Belgian Law of 1 April 2007 on public takeover bids or any modification or re-enactment thereof) with the offeror), to acquire all or a majority of the issued share capital of the Issuer and (the period of such offer being closed, the definitive results of such offer having been announced and such offer having become unconditional in all respects) the offeror has acquired or, following the publication of the results of such offer by the offeror, is entitled (such entitlement being unconditional and not being subject to any discretion of the offeror as to whether to exercise it or not) to acquire as a result of such offer, post completion thereof, shares or other voting rights of the Issuer so that it has the right to cast more than 50 per cent. of the votes which may ordinarily be cast at a general meeting of the Issuer: or
 - (ii) any person or group of persons acting in concert, within the meaning of Article 513 of the Belgian Companies Code, gain(s) Control of the statutory director (*statutaire zaakvoerder/gérant statutaire*) (or any of the statutory directors, as the case may be) of the Issuer; or
 - Montea Management NV/SA ceases to be statutory director of the Issuer, (iii) unless, in this latter case, within the month following the appointment of the new statutory director (a) the Issuer convenes a General Meeting of Bondholders in accordance with Condition 5.13, and (b) at such General Meeting of Bondholders the decision is taken, to waive the right of early redemption of the Bondholders pursuant to this Condition 5.6.3, with the quorum and majority requirements as set out in Article 574 of the Belgian Companies Code, it being understood that the Issuer, its Subsidiaries, any member of the Family Pierre De Pauw (defined as Dirk De Pauw, Marie Christine De Pauw, Bernadette De Pauw, Dominika De Pauw and Beatrijs De Pauw and their respective descendants) and any significant shareholder (i.e. any shareholder having to disclose a major holding pursuant to the Law of 2 May 2007 on the public disclosure of significant participations in issuers the shares of which are admitted to trading on a regulated market and holding various provisions) shall in any event not be entitled to vote at such meeting should they hold Bonds; For the purpose of this paragraph (iii), the Change of Control will be deemed to occur only after such General Meeting of Bondholders has decided not to waive the right of early redemption of the Bondholders or in case a General Meeting of Bondholders has not been convened after the expiration of a period of one month following the appointment of the new statutory director; Moreover, for the purpose of this paragraph (iii) no Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred (a) in case Montea Management NV/SA is replaced as the statutory director of the Issuer by a legal entity controlled by one or more members of the Family Pierre De Pauw, or (b) in case Montea Management NV/SA ceases to be the statutory director of the Issuer as a result of the transformation of the Issuer from a commanditaire vennootschap op aandelen/société en commandite par actions into another corporate form;

provided however that "person" as used in the definition of "Change of Control" shall not include any person that is a relative of a member of the Family Pierre De Pauw (defined as Dirk De Pauw, Marie Christine De Pauw, Bernadette De Pauw, Dominika De Pauw and Beatrijs De Pauw and their respective descendants) or that is owned for at least 50 % or controlled by (or affiliated with) one or more members or one or more relatives of one or more members of the Family Pierre De Pauw.

- The "Early Redemption Date" means the 10th (tenth) Business Day after the end of the Early Redemption Period.
- The "Early Redemption Period" means the period starting on the date of the Change of Control and ending 30 (thirty) Business Days after such date, or in case of a later date, 30 (thirty) Business Days after the date on which the Early Redemption Notice is delivered to the Bondholders as set out in Condition 5.6.3.
- The "Early Redemption Amount" means an amount equal to the Nominal Amount of the Bond plus any accrued but unpaid interest of such Bond up to (but excluding) the Early Redemption Date.

(ii) Early Redemption Notice

Within 10 Business Days following a Change of Control, the Issuer shall give notice thereof to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 5.13 (an **Early Redemption Notice**). The Early Redemption Notice shall contain a statement informing Bondholders of their entitlement to exercise their rights to require redemption of their Bonds pursuant to Condition 5.6.3.

The Early Redemption Event Notice shall also specify:

- (a) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, all information material to the Bondholders concerning the Change of Control;
- (b) the last day of the Early Redemption Period;
- (c) the Early Redemption Amount; and
- (d) the Early Redemption Date.

The Agent shall not be required to monitor or take any steps to ascertain whether a Change of Control or any event which could lead to a Change of Control has occurred or may occur and will not be responsible or liable to Bondholders or any other person for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so.

Bondholders should note that the exercise by any of them of the option set out in this Condition 5.6.3 will only be effective under Belgian law if, prior to the earliest of (a) the Issuer being notified by the FSMA of a formal filing of a proposed public takeover bid to the Shareholders of the Issuer or (b) the occurrence of the change of control within the meaning of Article 5 et seq. of the Belgian Companies Code, (i) the Change of Control Resolutions have been approved and (ii) such resolutions have been filed with the Clerk of the Commercial Court of Dendermonde (*griffie van de rechtbank van koophandel/greffe du tribunal de commerce*). Pursuant to Condition 5.10 (h), the Issuer has undertaken that the Change of Control Resolution relating to the Issuer be passed at the first general meeting of Shareholders following the Bond Issue and to file a copy of the resolution as aforesaid immediately thereafter and by 15 June 2014 at the latest. If the Issuer is notified by the FSMA of a formal filing of a proposed public takeover bid to the Shareholders will not be entitled to exercise the option set out in Condition 5.6.3. There can be no assurance that such approvals will be granted at such shareholders meetings. Reference is however made to the increase of Interest Rate included in Condition 5.6.3 (iii).
(iii) Change of Control Resolutions

If by not later than 15 June 2014:

- (a) the Change of Control Resolutions are not passed, approved or adopted; or
- (b) the Change of Control Resolutions have not been duly filed with the Clerk of the Commercial Court of Dendermonde,

then, with effect from the Interest Period starting on the first Interest Payment Date following 15 June 2014, the then prevailing Interest Rate shall be increased by 0.50 per cent (50 basis points) until the last day of the Interest Period during which the Change of Control Resolutions were approved and deposited with the Clerk of the Commercial Court of Dendermonde pursuant to Article 556 of the Belgian Companies Code.

5.6.4 Purchase

Subject to the requirements (if any) of any stock exchange on which the Bonds may be admitted to listing and trading at the relevant time and subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations, the Issuer or any Subsidiaries of the Issuer may at any time purchase any Bonds in the open market or otherwise at any price.

5.6.5 Cancellation

All Bonds which are redeemed will be cancelled and may not be reissued or resold. Bonds purchased by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may be held, reissued or resold at the option of the Issuer or relevant Subsidiary or transferred to the Agent for cancellation.

5.6.6 Multiple notices

If more than one notice of redemption is given pursuant to this Condition 5.6 entitled "*Redemption and purchase*", the first of such notices shall prevail.

5.7 Payments

5.7.1 Principal, premium and interest

Any payment of principal, interests or ancillary costs in respect of the Bonds shall be made through the Agent and the Clearing System in accordance with the Clearing System Regulations.

The calculation for all payments mentioned below will be made by the Issuer only, without any intervention by the Agent.

5.7.2 Payments

Any payment in respect of any such Bond in accordance with Condition 5.7.1 shall be made by transfer to a Euro account maintained with a bank in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System.

5.7.3 Payments in accordance with tax laws and other applicable laws

Any payment in respect of the Bonds is subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives, without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 5.8.

5.7.4 Agents

In accordance with the Agency Agreement, the Issuer reserves the right at any time, with the prior written approval of the Agent, to vary or terminate the appointment of the Agent and appoint additional or other agents, provided that it will (i) maintain a domiciliary agent (and the domiciliary agent will at all times be a participant in the Clearing System) who will also assume the tasks of a paying agent and (ii) if required, appoint from time to time an additional paying agent, with a specified office in a European Union member state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct taxes (pursuant to the EU Savings Directive, any other European Union directive, regulation, decision or any law implementing this Directive or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive). Notice of any change in agent or its specified offices will promptly be given by the Issuer to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 5.13.

5.7.5 No charges

The paying agent shall not make or impose on a Bondholder any charge or commission in relation to any payment in respect of the Bonds.

5.7.6 Fractions

When making payments to Bondholders, if the relevant payment is not of an amount which is a whole multiple of the smallest unit of the relevant currency in which such payment is to be made, such payment will be rounded down to the nearest unit.

5.8 Tax compensation

The payment of interests and the redemption of principal in respect of the Bonds are made by and on behalf of the Issuer without withholding or deduction of taxes, obligations, charges or any public charges of any nature (the **Taxes**), being imposed, received, withheld, levied in or by Belgium or by any other Belgian authority granted of such imposition power, unless the withholding or deduction is imposed by the law. In such case, the Issuer will pay additional amounts which are necessary in order for the Bondholders to receive the payments they should have received if such withholding or deduction was not made. However, such additional amounts shall not be paid in the following cases:

- a) Other cause due to taxes: to a Bondholder, or to a third party acting on behalf of the Bondholder, who is liable to such taxes, rights and public charges by reason of its connection with Belgium other than the mere holding of the Bonds; or
- b) Payment to individuals: where the withholding or the deduction is imposed pursuant to the EU Savings Directive, or any other European Union directive, regulation, decision or any law implementing this Directive or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive or any other agreement on the taxation of savings income concluded by an EU Member State with dependant territories or EU associates; or
- c) Non-eligible investor: to a Bondholder who, at the Issue Date of the Bonds, was not an eligible investor in the sense of Article 4 of the Royal Decree of 26 May 1994 on the collection and refunding of the withholding tax, or was an eligible investor on the Issue Date of the Bonds, but for reasons within its control, either ceased to be an eligible investor or, at any relevant time stopped being an eligible investor or, on or after the Issue Date, did not satisfy the conditions necessary to be exempted from withholding taxes pursuant to the Law of 6 August 1993 on transactions in certain securities; or
- d) Conversion into registered securities: the Bondholder who is liable for taxes by virtue of the conversion of Bonds, at his request, into registered securities which cannot be held or cleared via the Clearing System; or

e) Non-presentation of tax return: the deduction or withholding of taxes that could be avoided by the Bondholder by presenting to the Agent a tax return of non-resident or any other means of similar exemption.

5.9 Events of Default

If any of the following events (each an **Event of Default**) occurs, any Bondholder may require, by notice in writing given to the Issuer at its registered office with a copy to the Agent, that its Bonds be declared immediately due and repayable at par, together with accrued interest (if any) to the date of payment, without further formality unless such event shall have been remedied prior to the receipt of such notice by the Issuer. If, pursuant to this Condition 5.9, the Bondholders delivered the notices to the Issuer (according to the procedure above) for a cumulated nominal amount of at least 85% of the Bonds outstanding at such time, all Bonds will be declared immediately due and payable as set out in Condition 5.9.

Any of the following events will constitute an Event of Default:

5.9.1 Non-payment

The Issuer fails to pay the Nominal Amount of, the interests or any other amount due in respect of the Bonds, and such failure continues for a period of 10 (ten) Business Days following the date at which such payment is due.

5.9.2 Other obligations

The Issuer does not comply with a provision of the Conditions (other than those relating to Condition 5.9.1, Condition 5.9.4, Condition 5.9.5 and Condition 5.9.9) and fails to remedy such failure within a period of 20 (twenty) Business Days from the notification by a Bondholder to the Issuer.

5.9.3 Cross acceleration

- a) Any Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Subsidiary is declared to be or otherwise becomes due and payable prior to its specified maturity as a result of an event of default (howsoever described);
- b) Any commitment for any Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Subsidiary is cancelled or suspended by a creditor of the Issuer or any Subsidiary as a result of an event of default (howsoever described);
- No Event of Default will occur under this Condition 5.9.3 if the aggregate amount of Financial Indebtedness or commitment for Financial Indebtedness falling within paragraphs (a) or (b) above is less than EUR 5,000,000.

5.9.4 Enforcement Proceedings

An executory attachment (*uitvoerend beslag/saisie exécutoire*) or other similar process is enforced upon or against all or any part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or any Subsidiary, provided that the aggregate amount of the Financial Indebtedness in respect of which such executory attachment is enforced amounts to at least EUR 5,000,000 or its equivalent and is not discharged or stayed within 60 Business Days.

5.9.5 Security Enforced

Any Security, created or assumed by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any of its property or assets, becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of

possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person) which is not discharged or stayed within 60 Business Days provided that no Event of Default will occur under this Condition 5.9.5 if the aggregate amount of Financial Indebtedness in respect of which such Security becomes enforceable and steps are taken to enforce it is less than EUR 5,000,000.

5.9.6 Insolvency

- (a) The Issuer or any Subsidiary is declared bankrupt or is unable or admits inability to pay its debts under applicable law, suspends or threatens to suspend making payments on any of its debts or, by reason of current or anticipated financial difficulties, commences negotiations with one or more of its creditors with a view to rescheduling any of its indebtedness;
- (b) The value of the assets of the Issuer or any Subsidiary is less than its liabilities (taking into account contingent and prospective liabilities) unless that situation is remedied within 20 (twenty) Business Days from the earlier of (a) a Bondholder giving notice to the Issuer of such default and (b) the Issuer becoming aware of the failure to comply;
- (c) A moratorium is declared pursuant to Article 16 of the Act relating to the Continuity of Enterprises in respect of any indebtedness of the Issuer or any Subsidiary. If a moratorium occurs, the ending of the moratorium will not remedy any Event of Default caused by that moratorium.
- 5.9.7 Insolvency proceedings
- (a) Any corporate action, legal proceeding or other procedure or step is taken in relation to:
 - the suspension of payments, a moratorium of any indebtedness pursuant to Article 16 of the Act relating to the Continuity of Enterprises, winding-up, dissolution, administration or reorganization (by way of voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwise) of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;
 - (ii) a composition, compromise, assignment or arrangement with any creditor of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;
 - (iii) the appointment of a liquidator, receiver, administrative receiver, administrator, compulsory manager or other similar officer in respect of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;

or any analogous procedure or step is taken in any jurisdiction;

- (b) Paragraph (a) shall not apply to any winding-up petition which is frivolous or vexatious and against which appropriate steps of defense have been taken within 20 Business Days of commencement.
- 5.9.8 Reorganisation, change of business
- a) The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries changes the nature of its activities into activities that are not permitted under the REIT Royal Decree ; or
- b) A reorganisation of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries occurs which leads to a transfer of all or an important part of the assets of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries except for Permitted Restructurings.

5.9.9 Failure to list the Bonds

The Bonds are not admitted to trading on the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Brussels by 31 July 2013 at the latest, unless the Issuer obtained the effective listing of the Bonds on another Regulated Market of the European Economic Area, and at the latest at the end of this period.

5.9.10 Delisting of the Bonds

The Bonds are struck or withheld from the listing on the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Brussels for 15 (fifteen) consecutive Business Days following a breach by the Issuer, unless the Issuer obtained the effective listing of the Bonds on another Regulated Market of the European Economic Area, and at the latest at the end of this period.

5.9.11 Illegality

It becomes illegal for the Issuer to perform all or a part of its obligations in respect of the Bonds as a result of a legislative or regulatory amendment or a judicial decision affecting the Issuer.

5.9.12 Loss of accreditation

The Issuer loses the benefit of the status of Belgian REIT а (Openbare vastgoedbeleggingsvennootschap met vast kapitaal/société d'investissement immobilière à capital fixe publique), except if the Issuer within 60 Business Days from such loss acquires a regulatory status under a "fiscally transparent" regime that (i) is substantially similar or (ii) does not result in a material adverse effect for the Bondholders.

5.10 Undertakings

As long as any Bond remains outstanding, the Issuer undertakes to:

- (a) Not to be subject, in general, to a tax authority other than Belgium, with the exception of its current and future foreign permanent establishments or taxable presence within the European Economic Area;
- (b) Once the Bonds are admitted to negotiation on the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Brussels (on or before the Issue Date), (i) to provide the exchange with all documents, information and undertakings and to publish all communications or any other material considered as useful for the realisation and maintenance of such admission and (ii) to ensure the maintenance of such admission as long as the Bonds remain in circulation; if the Bonds are not or are no longer admitted to negotiation on the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Brussels, the Issuer will immediately take all reasonable measures in respect of the admission of the Bonds for the negotiation on a regulated market of the European Economic Area;
- (c) To maintain or to obtain all the necessary authorisations, consents, licenses, approvals, exemptions, registrations (i) for the Issuer to duly issue the Bonds, to enjoy the rights granted and respect the obligations arising from them, (ii) to ensure that such obligations are legal, valid and enforceable and (iii) to ensure that the Bonds are admitted as evidence in front of Belgian courts;
- (d) Ensure that (i) the Gearing and (ii) the Consolidated Gearing, is below 65 per cent, in accordance with the REIT Royal Decree. However, should the REIT Royal Decree increase this ratio, the Issuer shall still respect this Condition 5.10 (d);
- (e) Ensure that the Interest Cover exceeds 1,5:1;
- (f) Not to create or have outstanding and, as far as any Subsidiary is concerned, procure that no Subsidiary creates or has outstanding any Security, upon or with respect to the whole or any part of their present or future business, undertakings, assets or revenues (including any uncalled capital) which together with any other Security granted by the Issuer or any of its

Subsidiaries would encumber assets whose global value would exceed 20% of the Global Fair Value of the Real Estate Assets owned by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries;

- (g) Not to enter into any demerger, merger, contribution of branches of activities or a generality of assets, or any corporate action assimilated to these (hereafter jointly referred to as **Restructuring**), except for (i) intra group Restructurings on a solvent basis at the level of the Subsidiaries of the Issuer, (ii) for Restructurings on a solvent basis involving the Issuer and one or more companies operating in the real estate sector (be it a Subsidiary or not) to the extent the Issuer is the absorbing or acquiring entity and (iii) for mergers involving the Issuer and another REIT, whereby such REIT or a newly incorporated REIT is the absorbing entity, provided, in this latter case, that such merger has been approved by a General Meeting of Bondholders (prior to the filing of any merger proposal), with the quorum and majority requirements as set out in Article 574 of the Companies Code, it being understood that the Issuer, its Subsidiaries, any member of the Family Pierre De Pauw (defined as Dirk De Pauw, Marie Christine De Pauw, Bernadette De Pauw, Dominika De Pauw and Beatrijs De Pauw and their respective descendants) and any significant shareholder (i.e. any shareholder having to disclose a major holding pursuant to the applicable legislation) shall in any event not be entitled to vote at such meeting should they hold Bonds (Restructurings mentioned under (i), (ii) and (iii) above are referred to as **Permitted Restructurings**);
- (h) Use its best endeavours to (i) procure that the Change of Control Resolutions be passed at the next general meeting of the Shareholders of the Issuer and (ii) file a copy of the resolutions as aforesaid promptly thereafter with the Clerk of the Commercial Court of Dendermonde (*griffie van de rechtbank van koophandel/ greffe du tribunal de commerce*) and by 15 June 2014 at the latest;
- (i) Not to incur or allow to remain outstanding any Personal Security covering any Financial Indebtedness of any person which is not a member of the Issuer Group;
- (j) Promptly inform the Bondholders of the occurrence of any Event of Default (and the steps, if any, being taken to remedy it).

5.11 Compliance with undertakings

The Issuer shall include in its consolidated annual and semi-annual financial statements a statement that the Gearing, Consolidated Gearing and Interest Cover comply with the applicable ratios and thresholds as set out in Condition 5.10, as at the account date of the relevant Financial Statements.

5.12 Statute of limitations

Claims against the Issuer for payments in respect of the Bonds shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case of principal) or 5 years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of such payment.

Claims in respect of any other amounts payable in respect of the Bonds shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years following the due date for payment thereof.

5.13 General meetings of Bondholders and modification of the Conditions

5.13.1 General meetings of Bondholders

A general meeting of Bondholders may be convened in order to take certain decisions in respect of the Bonds, including the amendments of certain Conditions, subject to the consent of the Issuer. All meetings of Bondholders will be held in accordance with the provisions of Article 568 *et seq.* of the Belgian Companies Code with respect to Bondholders' meetings. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer and shall be convened by the Issuer upon the request in writing of Bondholders holding not less than one fifth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds. Subject to the quorum and majority requirements set out in Article 574 of the Belgian Companies Code and subject to the consent of the Issuer, and if required thereunder subject to validation by the court of appeal, the meeting of Bondholders shall be entitled to exercise the powers set out in Article 568 of the Belgian Companies Code and to modify or waive any provision of these Conditions.

Resolutions duly passed in accordance with these provisions shall be binding on all Bondholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting and whether or not they vote in favour of such a resolution.

Convening notices for meetings of Bondholders shall be made in accordance with Article 570 of the Belgian Companies Code, which currently requires an announcement to be published not less than fifteen days prior to the meeting in the Belgian Official Journal (*Moniteur Belge/Belgisch Staatsblad*) and in a newspaper of national distribution in Belgium.

5.13.2 Modification and Waiver

The Agency Agreement, any agreement supplemental to the Agency Agreement and these Conditions may be amended without the consent of the Bondholders to correct a manifest error, a minor error or a formal or a technical error or to comply with mandatory provisions of law. In addition, the Issuer shall only permit any modification of, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the Agency Agreement, if to do so could not reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders.

5.13.3 General meetings of the Issuer and right to information of the Bondholders

The Bondholders shall be entitled to attend all general meetings of Shareholders of the Issuer and they shall be entitled to receive or examine any documents that are to be remitted or disclosed to them in accordance with the provisions of the Belgian Companies Code. The Bondholders who attend any general meeting of Shareholders shall be entitled only to a consultative vote.

5.14 Notices to the Bondholders

Notices to the Bondholders shall be valid (i) if delivered by the Issuer or on its behalf by the Agent to the Clearing System for communication by it to the Clearing System Participants and (ii) if published on its website (at the Issue Date of the Bonds: <u>www.montea.com</u>). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the latter of (i) the date and the timing of its delivery to the Clearing System and (ii) the publication on the Issuer's website. The Issuer shall bear all fees, costs and expenses in relation to the drafting, delivery and publication of such notices.

The Issuer shall ensure that all notices are duly published in order to respect the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or any other competent authority where the Bonds are listed. Any notice shall be deemed to be given on the date of the publication or, when required to be published in several newspapers or in several ways, at the date of the first publication in one of these newspapers or in one of these ways.

With respect to notices for a meeting of Bondholders, any convening notice for such meeting shall be communicated by an announcement to be inserted at least fifteen (15) days prior to the meeting, in the Belgian Official Journal (*Belgisch Staatsblad/Moniteur belge*) and in a press organ having general circulation in Belgium. The convening notice will contain decision proposals to be submitted to the general meeting.

5.15 Further issues

Subject to Condition 5.4, the Issuer may, without the consent of the Bondholders, issue further notes, bonds or debentures either having the same terms and conditions in all respects as the Bonds and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the Bonds, or upon such terms as to interest, premium, redemption, status and otherwise as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue.

5.16 Governing law and jurisdiction

5.16.1 Governing law

The Bonds and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Bonds are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Belgian law.

5.16.2 Jurisdiction

The courts of Brussels, Belgium are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Bonds.

6 CLEARING

The Bonds are accepted within the Clearing System under the ISIN Code BE0002203694 and under the Common Code 094628911. They are consequently subject to the Clearing System Regulations. The number of Bonds in circulation will be mentioned at any time in the registry of the Issuer's registered securities opened in the name of the Clearing System. It is possible to have access to the Clearing System via Clearing System participants whose license will allow them to hold securities such as the Bonds.

The Clearing System participants include various banks, listed companies, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Therefore, the Bonds could also be liquidated via (and are therefore accepted by) Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Investors can hold the Bonds via securities accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Transfers of Bonds among participants of the Clearing System are executed in compliance with the rules and operating procedures of the Clearing System. Transfers among investors are executed in compliance with the rules and procedures of the Clearing System participants through which they hold the Bonds.

The Agent performs the obligations of domiciliary agent as provided in the Clearing Agreement and the Agency Agreement. The Issuer and the Agent have no responsibility regarding the compliance of the Clearing System or its participants with their obligations pursuant to the applicable rules and procedures.

7 DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER

7.1 General

For a description of the Issuer, we refer to the Registration Document, as well as to all additional information incorporated in the Prospectus by reference (See Section 3 entitled "Documents incorporated by reference").

7.2 Important change since the approval by the FSMA of the Annual Report 2012 as Registration Document

7.2.1 New acquisitions, investments and lease contracts

Montea and LPF (Le Piston Français) have signed a lease agreement for a fixed period of 12 years and 8 months for the last available warehouse space of 8,850 m² at the site in Savigny-le-Temple.

As part of the acquisition of the new DHL Global Forwarding distribution centre at Brucargo in December 2012, Montea has also reached an agreement with DHL to purchase building 765 at Brucargo. The building contains 9,700 m² of warehouse space and 1,400 m² of offices. Subject to the usual conditions precedent, Montea will become owner of the building by July 2013. In the meantime, Montea has already signed a lease agreement for the building with Geodis for a term of 9 years.

Montea has reached an agreement with Cordeel on the acquisition, subject to customary conditions precedent, of a logistic platform for DSV Solutions in the port of Ghent. The logistic building is leased for a period of 9 years starting 1 July 2013. The investment value amounts to EUR 10.9 million.

The Issuer has acquired all the capital shares of Acer Park NV, a company owning the St Jude Medical construction at Brucargo. The Issuer paid a total consideration of EUR 5,624,000.

7.2.2 Optional dividend

For the first time in its history the Issuer offered the possibility to its shareholders to convert their dividend claims into capital shares by means of an optional dividend (*keuzedividend/dividende optionnel*). The shareholders elected to subscribe to this capital increase for about 50% of the total number of capital shares. This resulted in a capital increase on 20 June 2013 of EUR 2,803,702.03 (+ an increase of the issue premium of EUR 1,238,336.87) and the issue of 139.622 new capital shares. The issue price per new share amounted to EUR 28.95.

7.2.3 Reappointment of statutory auditor and appointment of directors

The statutory auditor of the Issuer, Ernst & Young Bedrijfsrevisoren/Réviseurs d'Entreprises (having its registered office at 1831 Diegem, Belgium, De Kleetlaan 2), represented by Christel Weymeersch, a member of the "Institut des Réviseurs d'Entreprises/Instituut van de Bedrijfsrevisoren, was reappointed during the annual shareholders' meeting of 21 May 2013. The statutory director inadvertedly did not request the FSMA for the pre-approval pursuant to article 104 of the Law of 3 August 2012 regarding certain types of collective management of investment portfolios (*Wet betreffende bepaalde vormen van collectief beheer van beleggingsportefeuilles/Loi relative à certaines forms de gestion collective de portefeuilles d'investissement*) of this reappointment of the statutory auditor. On 19 June 2013 the Issuer obtained approval from the FSMA with this reappointment. The Issuer will convene a special shareholders' meeting to confirm and ratify the reappointment of the statutory auditor.

The composition of the board of directors of the statutory director of the Issuer has changed pursuant to the decisions of the annual shareholders' meeting of Montea Management NV/SA, the statutory director of the Issuer on 21 May 2013.

Effective 21 May 2013 the mandates of the following directors expired:

- Eddy Hartung, domiciled in 1180 Brussel, W. Churchill Laan 46;
- Philip Van gestel BVBA, having its registered office at 2930 Brasschaat, Binnenhof 19, RLE Antwerpen, enterprise number 0477.380.649, represented by Philip Van gestel;
- First Stage Management NV, having its registered office at 2900 Schoten, Botermelkdijk 422, RLE Antwerpen, enterprise number 0447.861.470, represented by Hugo Van Hoof;

Stratefin Management BVBA, having its registered office at 1640 Sint-Genesius-Rode, Struikenlaan 31, RLE Brussel, enterprise number 0873.464.016, represented by Christian Terlinden, resigned as a director effective 8 April 2013. Its resignation was accepted by the general meeting of the statutory director of 21 May 2013.

Following these changes in the composition of the board of directors, the statutory director of the Issuer had, pursuant to paragraph 1 of article 9 of the REIT Royal Decree, to appoint at least two new independent directors. The statutory director did so by appointing at its shareholders' meeting of 21 May 2013 the following new directors subject to the condition precedent of approval by the FSMA:

- EMOR SPRL/BVBA, having its registered office at 2018 Antwerpen, Bosmanslei 23 B8, RLE Antwerpen, enterprise number 0475.178.056, represented by Francis Rome, (*independent director*) and
- Ciska Servais SC s.f.d. SPRL/BV o.v.v.e. BVBA, having its registered office at 2650 Edegem, Boerenlegerstraat 204, RLE Antwerpen, enterprise number 0867.862.463, represented by Ciska Servais (*independent director*).

The statutory director inadvertedly did not request the FSMA for the pre-approval of the appointment of the new directors, pursuant to article 39, § 3 of the Law of 3 August 2012 regarding certain types of collective management of investment portfolios (*Wet betreffende bepaalde vormen van collectief beheer van beleggingsportefeuilles/Loi relative à certaines forms de gestion collective de portefeuilles* d'investissement. The approval procedure is now pending.

As of 21 May 2013, the board of directors of the Issuer is composed as follows:

- Gerard Van Acker SPRL/BVBA, having its registered office at 8310 Brugge, Rapaertstraat 20, RLE Brugge, enterprise number 0474.402.353, represented by Gerard Van Acker, (*independent director*);
- PSN Management SPRL/BVBA, having its registered office at 9300 Aalst, Oude Gentbaan 10, RLE Dendermonde, enterprise number 0806.373.668, represented by Peter Snoeck;
- Jo De Wolf SPRL/BVBA, having its registered office at 1730 Asse, Assestraat 15, RLE Brussel, enterprise number 0478.720.239, represented by Jo De Wolf;
- DDP Management SPRL/BVBA, having its registered office at 1730 Asse, Gentsesteenweg 11, RLE Brussel, enterprise number 0806.167.691, represented by Dirk De Pauw;
- André Bosmans Management SPRL/BVBA, having its registered office at 9000 Gent, Posteernestraat 42, RLE Gent, enterprise number 0476.029.577, represented by André Bosmans;
- Federale Verzekering, having its registered office at 1000 Brussel, Stoofstraat 12, RLE Brussel, enterprise number 0408.183.324, represented by Jean-Marc Mayeur;
- Belfius Insurance NV/SA, having its registered office at 1210 Sint-Joost-Ten-Node, Galileelaan 5, RLE Brussel, enterprise number 0405.764.064, represented by Dirk Vanderschrick;

- EMOR SPRL/BVBA, having its registered office at 2018 Antwerpen, Bosmanslei 23 B8, RLE Antwerpen, enterprise number 0475.178.056, represented by Francis Rome, (*independent director*), subject to the condition precedent of the approval by the FSMA, and
- Ciska Servais SC s.f.d. SPRL/BV o.v.v.e. BVBA, having its registered office at 2650 Edegem, Boerenlegerstraat 204, RLE Antwerpen, enterprise number 0867.862.463, represented by Ciska Servais (*independent director*), subject to the condition precedent of the approval by the FSMA.

Pending the condition of the approval by the FSMA of the two new independent directors, the board of directors counts only one independent director. The statutory director of the Issuer is furthering the administrative procedure to get the confirmation of the two new independent directors.

8 USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the issue and sale of the Bonds, after deduction of the transaction fees and expenses of approximately EUR 430,000, amount to approximately EUR 29,570,000.

The Issuer is responsible for paying the following costs related to the listing of the Bonds on the regulated market of Euronext Brussels: a fixed admission fee of EUR 125 per tranche of Bonds issued for a value of EUR 25 million – resulting in a total amount of EUR 250 admission fee – and a fee of EUR 500 per year to maturity, whereby every year commenced is charged as a full calendar year.

The net proceeds from the issue of the Bonds will be applied by the Issuer for the general corporate purposes of the Issuer and in particular to finance the growth of the Issuer and to diversify its sources of financing.

General corporate purposes may include, but are not limited to, financing and operating activities, capital expenditures, acquisitions and refinancing of existing indebtedness; the Issuer in that context may repay outstanding loans under existing revolving credit facilities, including with affiliates of the Joint Lead Managers, in order not to let the proceeds of the Bonds unused if there is no immediate project to be financed, but may redraw on those facilities as soon as necessary for the financing of its growth.

As of the date of the Prospectus, the Issuer cannot predict with certainty all of the particular uses for the balance of proceeds from the issue of the Bonds, or the amounts that it will actually spend or allocate to specific uses. The amounts and timing of actual expenditures will depend upon numerous factors. The Issuer's management will have significant flexibility in applying the balance of net proceeds from the issue of the Bonds and may change the allocation of these proceeds as a result of these and other contingencies.

9 TAX

The following summaries do not purport to be a comprehensive description of all tax considerations that could be relevant for the Bondholders. These summaries are intended as general information only and each prospective Bondholder should consult a professional tax adviser with respect to the tax consequences of an investment in the Bonds. These summaries are based on tax legislation and published case law in force as of the date of this document. They do not take into account any developments or amendments thereof after that date, whether or not such developments or amendments have retroactive effect.

9.1 EU Savings Directive

Under Council Directive 2003/48/EC regarding the taxation of savings income (hereinafter referred to as the **EU Savings Directive**), EU Member States are required to provide to the tax authorities of another EU Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other EU Member State or to certain limited types of entities established in that other EU Member State. However, for a transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU countries and territories including Switzerland have adopted similar measures (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland). The Belgian State elected to abandon the transitional withholding system and provides information in accordance with the EU Savings Directive as of 1 January 2010.

The European Commission has proposed certain amendments to the EU Savings Directive which may, if implemented, amend or broaden the scope of the requirements described above. Potential investors who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their own independent tax advisers.

If a payment were to be made or collected through a paying agent established in any other state which applies the withholding tax system and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, neither the Issuer nor the Paying Agent nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts to the Bondholders or to otherwise compensate Bondholders for the reductions in the amounts that they will receive as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax.

9.2 Taxation in Belgium

This section provides a general description of the main Belgian tax issues and consequences relating to the Bonds and is included herein solely for information purposes. It does not purport to be a complete analysis of all tax considerations relating thereto. This summary does not describe the tax treatment of investors that are subject to special rules, such as banks, insurance companies, or collective investment undertakings.

Prospective purchasers are urged to consult their own tax advisers as to the consequences under the tax laws of their countries of citizenship, residence, ordinary residence or domicile and the tax laws of Belgium of acquiring, holding and disposing of Bonds and receiving payments of interest, principal and/or other amounts thereunder.

This summary is based upon the laws and regulations in Belgium as in effect on the date of this Prospectus and is subject to any change in law that may take effect after such date (or even before with retroactive effect). Investors should appreciate that, as a result of changing law or practice, the tax consequences may be otherwise than as stated below. Prospective investors are therefore urged to

consult their own professional advisors as to the effects of state, local or foreign laws and regulations, including the tax laws and regulations in Belgium to which they may be subject.

For Belgian income tax purposes and for the purposes of the summary below, interest includes: (i) periodic interest income, (ii) any amounts paid by the Issuer in excess of the issue price (upon full or partial redemption whether or not at maturity, or upon purchase by the Issuer), and (iii) in case of a sale of the Bonds between interest payment dates to any third party, excluding the Issuer, the pro rata of accrued interest corresponding to the detention period.

9.2.1 Belgian withholding tax

Under current Belgian tax legislation, all interest payments in respect of the Bonds (which include any amount paid in excess of the initial issue price upon redemption of the Bonds by the Issuer as well as the pro rata of accrued interests corresponding to the detention period in case of a sale of the Bonds between two interest payment dates) is as a rule subject to Belgian withholding tax, currently at a rate of 25 per cent on the gross amount. Tax treaties may provide for lower rates subject to certain conditions and formalities.

However, payments of interest and principal under the Bonds by or on behalf of the Issuer may be made without deduction of Belgian withholding tax if and as long as, at the moment of payment or attribution of interest, the Bonds are held by certain investors (the Eligible Investors, see below) in an exempt securities account (an X-account) that has been opened with a financial institution that is a direct or indirect participant (a Participant) in the Clearing System. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg are direct or indirect Participants for this purpose.

Holding the Bonds through the Clearing System enables Eligible Investors to receive gross interest income on their Bonds and to transfer the Bonds on a gross basis.

Eligible Investors are those entities referred to in article 4 of the Belgian Royal Decree of 26 May 1994 on the deduction of withholding tax (*Arrêté Royal du 26 mai 1994 relatif à la perception et à la bonification du précompte mobilier/Koninklijk Besluit van 26 mei 1994 over de inhouding en de vergoeding van de roerende voorheffing*), which include, *inter alia*:

- (a) Belgian resident corporate investors subject to Belgian corporate income tax;
- (b) Institutions, associations or companies referred to in article 2, §3 of the law of 9 July 1975 on the control of insurance companies, other than those referred to in (i) and (iii), without prejudice to the application of article 262, 1° and 5° of the Belgian Income Tax Code 1992 (the ITC 1992);
- (c) State regulated institutions (institutions parastatales/parastatalen) for social security or institutions equated therewith, referred to in article 105, 2° of the Royal Decree implementing ITC 1992 (RD/ITC 1992);
- (d) Non-resident investors whose holding of the Bonds is not connected to a professional activity in Belgium, referred to in article 105, 5° of the RD/ITC 1992;
- (e) Investment funds recognised in the framework of pension savings, referred to in article 115 of the RD/ITC 1992;
- (f) Investors referred to in article 227, 2° of the ITC 1992 which are subject to non-resident income tax in accordance with article 233 of the ITC 1992 and which have used the income generating capital for the exercise of their professional activities in Belgium;

- (g) The Belgian State, in respect of investments which are exempt from withholding tax in accordance with article 265 of the ITC 1992;
- (h) Investment funds governed by foreign law which are an indivisible estate managed by a management company for the account of the participants (such as fonds de placement/beleggingsfondsen) and the units of which are not publicly offered in Belgium or traded in Belgium;
- (i) Belgian resident companies, not referred to under (i), whose activity exclusively or principally consists of the granting of credits and loans.

Eligible Investors do not include, inter alia, Belgian resident individuals and Belgian non-profit organisations, other than those mentioned under (ii) and (iii) above.

Participants in the Clearing System must keep the Bonds which they hold on behalf of non-Eligible Investors in a non-exempt securities account (an N-Account). In such instance, all payments of interest are subject to the 25% withholding tax. This withholding tax is withheld by the NBB from the interest payment and paid to the Belgian Treasury.

Transfers of Bonds between an X-account and an N-account give rise to certain adjustment payments on account of withholding tax:

- A transfer from an N-account (to an X-account or N-account) gives rise to the payment by the transferor "non-Eligible Investor" to the NBB of withholding tax on the accrued fraction of interest calculated from the last interest payment date up to the transfer date.
- A transfer from an X-account (or N-account) to an N-account gives rise to the refund by the NBB to the transferee non-Eligible Investor of withholding tax on the accrued fraction of interest calculated from the last interest payment date up to the transfer date.
- Transfers of Bonds between two X-accounts do not give rise to any adjustment on account of withholding tax.

These adjustment mechanics are such that parties trading the Bonds on the secondary market, irrespective of whether they are Eligible or non-Eligible Investors, are in a position to quote prices on a gross basis.

Upon opening an X-account for the holding of Bonds, an Eligible Investor is required to provide a statement of its eligible status on a standard form approved by the Belgian Minister of Finance and send the completed form to the participant in the Clearing System where the account is kept. This certification need not be periodically renewed (although Eligible Investors must update their certification should their eligible status change). Clearing system participants are however required to make annually declarations to the NBB as to the eligible status of each investor for whom they hold Bonds in an X-account during the preceding calendar year.

These identification requirements do not apply to Bonds held with Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or their sub-participants outside Belgium, acting as Participants in the Clearing System, provided that these institutions or sub-participants only hold X-accounts and are able to identify the holders for whom they hold Bonds in such accounts.

9.2.2 Belgian income tax and capital gains

Belgian resident individuals

Belgian resident individuals, i.e. natural persons who are subject to Belgian personal income tax (*personenbelasting/impôt des personnes physiques*) and who hold the Bonds as a private investment, do not have to declare interest in respect of the Bonds in their personal income tax return, provided that the Belgian withholding tax of 25% has effectively been levied on the interest.

Nevertheless, Belgian resident individuals may choose to declare interest in respect of the Bonds in their personal income tax return. Where the beneficiary opts to declare them, the interest income will in principle be taxed at a flat rate of 25 per cent (or at the relevant progressive personal income tax rates taking into account the taxpayer's other declared income, whichever is lower). The Belgian withholding tax levied may be credited against the income tax liability.

Capital gains realised on the disposal of the Bonds are as a rule tax exempt, unless the capital gains are realised outside the scope of the management of one's private estate or unless the capital gains qualify as interest (as defined above). Capital losses realised upon the disposal of the Bonds held as a non-professional investment are in principle not tax deductible.

Specific tax rules apply to Belgian resident individuals who do not hold the Bonds as a private investment.

Belgian resident companies

Interest attributed or paid to companies that are Belgian residents for tax purposes, i.e. which are subject to Belgian corporate income tax (vennootschapsbelasting/impôt des sociétés), as well as capital gains realized upon the disposal of the Bonds, are taxable at the ordinary corporate income tax rate of in principle 33.99 per cent. Capital losses realised upon the disposal of the Bonds will normaly be tax deductible.

Belgian legal entities

Belgian legal entities subject to the Belgian legal entities tax (*rechtspersonenbelasting/impôts des personnes morales*) and which do not qualify as Eligible Investors (as defined above) will not be subject to any further taxation on interest in respect of the Bonds over and above the withholding tax of 25 per cent. The withholding tax constitutes the final taxation.

Belgian legal entities which qualify as Eligible Investors (as defined above) and which consequently have received gross interest income are required to declare and pay the 25 per cent. withholding tax themselves to the Belgian tax authorities.

Belgian legal entities are not liable to income tax on capital gains realized upon the disposal of the Bonds (unless the capital gains qualify as interest (as defined above)). Capital losses are in principle not tax deductible.

Organisations for Financing Pensions

Interest and capital gains derived by organisations for financing pensions within the meaning of the Law of 27 October 2006 on the activities and supervision of institutions for occupational retirement provision, are in principle exempt from Belgian corporate income tax. Capital losses are in principle not tax deductible. Subject to certain conditions, any Belgian withholding tax that has been levied can be credited against any corporate income tax due and any excess amount is in principle refundable.

Non-residents

Non-residents who use the Bonds to exercise a professional activity in Belgium through a permanent establishment are in principle subject to the same tax rules as the Belgian resident companies (see above).

Bondholders who are non-residents of Belgium for Belgian tax purposes, who are not holding the Bonds through a permanent establishment in Belgium and who are not investing in the Bonds in the course of their Belgian professional activity, will normally not incur or become liable for any Belgian tax on income or capital gains by reason only of the acquisition, ownership, redemption or disposal of the Bonds, provided that they qualify as Eligible Investors and that they hold their Bonds in an X-account.

This being said, under a strict reading of Article 228, §3, ITC (new), capital gains realized on the Bonds by Belgian non-residents could, however, be subject to Belgian taxation, levied in the form of a professional withholding tax, if the following 3 conditions are cumulatively met: (i) the capital gain would have been taxable if the non-resident were a Belgian tax resident, (ii) the income is "borne by" a Belgian resident (including a Belgian establishment of a foreign entity) which would, in such a context, mean that the capital gain is realized upon a transfer of the Bonds to a Belgian resident (including a Belgian establishment of a foreign entity) and (iii) Belgium has the right to tax such capital gain pursuant to the applicable double tax treaty, or, if no such tax treaty applies, the non-resident does not demonstrate that the capital gain is effectively taxed in its state of residence.

However, it is unclear whether a capital gain included in the purchase price of an asset can be considered to be "borne by" the purchaser of the asset within the meaning of the second condition mentioned above. Furthermore, this tax requires that the Belgian resident purchaser is aware of (i) the identity of the Belgian non-resident (to assess the third condition mentioned above) and (ii) the amount of the capital gain realized by the Belgian non-resident (as such amount determines the amount of professional withholding tax to be levied by the Belgian purchaser). Consequently, the application of this tax on transactions with respect to the Bonds occurring on the regulated market of Euronext will give rise to practical difficulties as the seller and purchaser typically do not know each other.

Non – resident investors that would potentially be caught by Article 228, §3 ITC (new), are advised to consult their own tax advisors so to understand the impact hereof on their particular situation.

9.2.3 Belgian taxation on stock exchange transactions

No transfer tax (*taks op beursverrichtingen / taxe sur les operations de bourse*) will be due on the issuance of the Bonds.

Any transfer for the acquisition and disposal of the Bonds on the secondary market if executed in Belgium through a professional intermediary will trigger a transfer tax at a rate of 0.09 per cent. on each acquisition and disposal separately, with a maximum amount of EUR 650 per taxable transaction and is collected by the professional intermediary.

However, the tax referred to above will not be payable if no professional intermediary intervenes in the transaction or, even if a professional intermediary intervenes in the transaction, by exempt persons acting for their own account, including investors who are Belgian non-residents provided they deliver an affidavit to the financial intermediary in Belgium confirming their non-resident status and certain Belgian institutional investors, as defined in Article 126/1, 2° of the Code of various duties and taxes (*Code des droits et taxes divers / Wetboek diverse rechten en taksen*).

10 SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

According to the terms of a placement agreement which was executed prior to the beginning of the Subscription Period (the **Placement Agreement**), Bank Degroof NV/SA and Belfius Bank NV/SA (in their capacity as Joint Lead Managers) have agreed with the Issuer, subject to certain terms and conditions, to place the Bonds with third parties, without a firm commitment on the amount, at the price and according to the terms and conditions specified below. The Placement Agreement entitled the Joint Lead Managers to terminate their obligations under certain conditions. This solely provided for rights and obligations of the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers, and the Bondholders cannot derive any right, directly or indirectly, from the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers.

Bank Degroof NV/SA (in its capacity as **Agent**) and the Issuer have also entered into the Agency Agreement, the terms and conditions of which specify the modalities of the creation of the Bonds at the Issue Date, and the payment of the interest due in respect of the Bonds.

10.1 Subscription Period and procedure

The Bonds were offered for subscription through a private placement starting from 19 June 2013 at 9:00 (CET) and ending on 25 June 2013 at 16:00 (CET) (the **Subscription Period**), which was closed early on 19 June 2013. (see Section 10.9 entitled "*Early closing and allocation of the Bonds*" for more information about the early closing).

The investors who, after having consulted the PPM, wished to subscribe to the Bonds were invited to subscribe with Bank Degroof NV/SA and Belfius Bank NV/SA. Subscriptions could also be submitted via other financial intermediaries. In this case, the investors are invited to seek information about the fees that such financial intermediaries would charge.

The investors were notified of the number of Bonds which were allocated to them by the Joint Lead Managers or by the financial intermediary through which they had introduced their demand in accordance with the arrangements in place between parties.

Subscriptions were irrevocable.

The minimum amount of subscription in the primary market was EUR 100,000. There was no maximum amount of subscription.

Regarding the costs incurred by investors who subscribe to the Bonds, see Section 10.7 entitled "Fees incurred by the investors".

10.2 Conditions of the Bond Issue

The Bond Issue was subject to a limited number of customary conditions for this type of transaction (which are listed and defined in the Placement Agreement) and negotiated between the Joint Lead Managers and the Issuer, including the terms of the best effort obligation of the Joint Lead Managers to place the Bonds with investors at the issue price.

Furthermore, the Placement Agreement provided that the Joint Lead Managers had the right to immediately terminate their obligations in the following events:

(a) the occurrence of a change in national or international financial, political or economic conditions or currency exchange rates or exchange controls as would in the reasonable opinion of the Joint Lead Managers acting in good faith be likely to prejudice the success of the Bond Issue or the placement of the Bonds;

- (b) the occurrence of a Material Adverse Change (as defined in the Placement Agreement) which, in the reasonable judgment of the Joint Lead Managers acting in good faith, made it impracticable or inadvisable to conduct the placement of the Bonds in the manner contemplated in the Placement Agreement, or
- (c) a breach by the Issuer of any provision of the Placement Agreement or of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds or any event rendering untrue or incorrect any of the warranties or representations contained in the Placement Agreement which, in the reasonable opinion of the Joint Lead Managers acting in good faith, would have been likely to prejudice the success of the Bond Issue or the placement of the Bonds.

If the conditions for the Bond Issue were not fulfilled by the Issue Date, the Bonds would not be issued. In this event, any amounts paid for the subscription of the Bonds would have been repaid to the investors no later than 7 (seven) Business Days after the date set as the Issue Date. The investors could not claim any interest on these amounts.

The Bond Issue and the obligations of the Joint Lead Managers could also be terminated if the conditions of the Bond Issue, as agreed between the Joint Lead Managers and the Issuer under the Placement Agreement, were not met.

10.3 Listing of the Bonds

Application will be made for the Bonds to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Brussels as from the Issue Date.

10.4 Pricing of the Bonds

The issue price amounts to 100.00% of the Nominal Amount of the Bonds (the Issue Price).

The gross yield of the Issue Price for investors was the Nominal Interest Rate. The gross yield was calculated on the basis of the Issue Price, the payment of interests during the term of the Bond and the redemption amount at maturity, all of these flows were discounted.

The Nominal Interest Rate amounts to 4.107 per cent.

Regarding the costs incurred by investors who subscribed to the Bonds, see Section 10.7 entitled "Fees incurred by the investors".

10.5 Nominal amount of the Bond Issue

The total nominal amount of the Bond Issue amounts to EUR 30,000,000, represented by dematerialised securities in denominations (Nominal Value) of EUR 100,000.

The amount of the Bond Issue could be reduced, or the Bond Issue could be cancelled by the Issuer, notably if the expected principal amount of EUR 30,000,000.- was not placed or if market conditions did not enable the placement of the Bonds.

The Issuer has applied the following criteria to determine the aggregate nominal amount of the Bonds: (i) the financing needs of the Issuer, which could have evolved during the Subscription Period of the Bonds, (ii) the daily changes in the level of the interest rate and of credit spread of the Issuer, (iii) the level of investors' demand for Bonds as recorded daily by the Joint Lead Managers, and (iv) the occurrence or not of certain events during the Subscription Period of the Bonds which gave the possibility to the Issuer and/or the Joint Lead Managers to close prematurely the Subscription Period or to not proceed with the Bond Issue in accordance with Section 10.2 entitled "Conditions of the Bond Issue".

10.6 Date and payment details

The payment of the Issue Price of the Bonds occurs on the Issue Date, which is 28 June 2013. Payment can only occur by means of debiting a current account.

On the Issue Date, the Clearing System credits the securities account designated by the Agent with the total amount of issued Bonds, in accordance with the Clearing System Regulations or the rules of the Alternative Clearing System.

The same day, the Agent credits the accounts of each participant to the Clearing System with the amount of Bonds subscribed (by their intermediary) by the investors for subsequent distribution, in accordance with the NBB System Rules or the rules of the Alternative Clearing System.

10.7 Fees incurred by the investors

No tax on stock exchange transactions was due for the subscription on the primary market.

Expenses and taxes incurred by the subscribers or purchasers of Bonds included:

- registration and custody fees of Bonds on securities account, incurred by the subscribers (it being understood that the normal rate in effect at Bank Degroof NV/SA and Belfius Bank NV/SA will be applicable); and
- (ii) the tax on stock exchange transactions other than the initial subscription: 0.09% with a maximum of EUR 650 per transaction and per party (see Section 9.2.3 entitled "*Tax on stock exchange transactions*).

10.8 Financial service

The financial service will be provided free of charge by the Agent. Investors should inform themselves about the costs other financial institutions may charge for these transactions.

In addition, the Bondholders, in exercising their right to demand early redemption of the Bonds in the event of a Change of Control (pursuant to Condition 5.6.3 (*Optional Redemption upon a Change of Control*)) or upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (pursuant to Condition 5.9) through a financial intermediary (other than the Agent), may incur additional fees and expenses charged by such financial intermediary.

10.9 Early closing and allocation of the Bonds

Early closing of the Subscription Period could occur at any time as from the first day (including during the day) of the Subscription Period. In the event of early closing, the investors were informed of the date and time of such early closing by the Joint Lead Managers or the financial intermediary through which they have introduced their demand in accordance with the arrangements in place between parties.

The Subscription Period was closed early by the Issuer with the approval of the Joint Lead Managers on 19 June 2013, since the nominal amount of the Bonds reached EUR 30,000,000.-.

The investors were informed of the number of Bonds that were assigned to them on 19 June 2013. In general, investors' attention was drawn to the fact that it was possible, in case of oversubscription, that they did not obtain the full amount to which they had subscribed to and that their subscription would in this case be reduced.

10.10 Results of the Bond Issue

The results of the Bond Issue (including the net proceeds of the Bonds) were notified to the investors on 19 June 2013, by the Joint Lead Managers or by the financial intermediary through which the investors have introduced their demand in accordance with the arrangements in place between parties.

10.11 Bond Issue timetable

The main steps of the timetable of the Bond Issue were as follows:

- 19 June 2013, 9:00 (CET): opening of the Subscription Period;
- 25 June 2013 16:00 (CET): closing of the Subscription Period (unless in case of early closing);
- As soon as possible and at the latest on 25 June 2013 or, if applicable, after the early closing: notification of the results of the Bond Issue to the investors;
- 28 June 2013: Issue Date of the Bonds;

The dates and times of the Bond Issue and the periods mentioned in the above timetable and in the Private Placement Memorandum were subject to change. If the Issuer was to decide to change the dates, times and periods, the Issuer would have informed the investors.

10.12 Costs

Investors should inform themselves about the ancillary or related costs the financial intermediaries, via which they have subscribed the Bonds, charge for these transactions.

10.13 Transfer of the Bonds

Subject to the application of regulations regarding transferability of securities and to compliance with any restriction applicable to the Bond Issue, the Bonds are freely transferable.

10.14 Selling restrictions

10.14.1 General

In certain jurisdictions, the distribution of the Information Memorandum, the offer of the Bonds and the participation in such offer may be subject to specific regulations or legal and regulatory restrictions. The Bonds are neither offered directly or indirectly to any persons subject to such restrictions nor can the Bonds be accepted by persons residing in a country subject to such restrictions. Consequently, any person in possession of the Information Memorandum must make sufficient enquiries in respect of any applicable local restrictions and act in accordance with them. The Information Memorandum does not constitute an offer, nor an invitation to purchase Bonds in those jurisdictions where such offer or invitation would be illegal. The Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers expressly decline all responsibility in respect of any person violating local regulations applicable to them.

10.14.2 European Economic Area

The offering of the Bonds in any member state of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and the Council of 4 November 2003 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading and amending Directive 2001/34/EC (the "**Prospectus Directive**"), as amended by Directive 2010/73/EU, is made through a private placement and does not qualify as a public offering, in the

meaning of the Prospectus Directive, since the Bonds have a denomination of EUR 100,000 per Bond.

10.14.3 United Kingdom

The distribution of the Information Memorandum, the offer of the Bonds and the participation in such offer in the UK is subject to compliance with all applicable provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act.

10.14.4 United States

The Bonds have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the **Securities Act**), or the securities laws of any State or other jurisdiction of the United States, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Bonds are being offered and sold solely outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act (**Regulation S**). Terms used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them in Regulation S.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of the Bonds within the United States by a dealer whether or not participating in the offering may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with an available exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

11 GENERAL INFORMATION

- (a) Application has been made for the Bonds to be listed as from the Issue Date on NYSE Euronext Brussels and admitted to trading on the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Brussels as from the Issue Date. Bank Degroof NV/SA has been appointed as listing agent for that purpose.
- (b) The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in Belgium in connection with the Bond Issue. The Bond Issue was authorised by resolutions passed by the Board of Directors of Montea Management NV, the statutory director of the Issuer, on 11 June 2013.
- (c) There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 31 December 2012 and no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31 December 2012. The Issuer has published its quarterly report (Interim statement from 01/01/2013 to 31/03/2013 on 16 May 2013. It is available on the Issuers website: http://www.montea.com/datas/press/Press-release-31-03-2013.pdf.
- (d) The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through the clearing system of the National Bank of Belgium. The Common Code of the Bonds is 094628911. The International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) of the Bonds is BE0002203694. The address of the National Bank of Belgium is Boulevard de Berlaimont 14, B-1000 Brussels.
- (e) During the life of the Bonds, copies of the following documents will be available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for inspection at the registered office of the Issuer,
 - a. the Articles of Association of the Issuer;
 - b. the annual report and audited financial statements of the Issuer for the years ended 31 December 2010, 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012, together with the audit reports thereon;
 - c. the annual reports that will be published before the Maturity Date;
 - d. a copy of the Prospectus (Registration Document and Securities Note);
 - e. a copy of the Agency Agreement and the Clearing Agreement; and
 - f. all reports, letters and other documents, balance sheets, valuations or statements by any expert any part of which is included or referred to in the Prospectus.
- (f) The statutory auditor of the Issuer, Ernst & Young Bedrijfsrevisoren/Réviseurs d'Entreprises (having its registered office at 1831 Diegem, Belgium, De Kleetlaan 2), represented by Christel Weymeersch, a member of the "Institut des Réviseurs d'Entreprises/Instituut van de Bedrijfsrevisoren, has audited, and rendered unqualified audit reports on the consolidated annual financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2010, 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012.
- (g) No rating has been assigned to the Issuer or the Bonds.

SCHEDULE 1: EARLY REDEMPTION REQUEST NOTICE FORM

IMPORTANT : this notice should not be sent directly to the Issuer or to the Agent, but should be sent instead by the Bondholder to the financial intermediary through which it holds its Bonds (the « Financial Intermediary »), pursuant to Condition 5.6.3(i) of the Securities Note (Redemption upon a Change of Control of the Issuer).

The Financial Intermediary will be responsible for sending this notice to the Agent at the following address:

Bank Degroof (The *Agent*) Corporate Action Service 44 rue de l'Industrie B-1040 Brussels Fax : +32.(0)2.233.91.05 E-mail : corpact@degroof.be

> Montea Comm. VA. Industrielaan 27 B-9320 Erembodegem

EUR 30,000,000

4.107 per cent. Bonds due 28 June 2020

(issued in the denomination of EUR 100,000 and as described in the Prospectus date 2 July 2013) ISIN Code BE0002203694

By returning this Early Redemption Request Notice duly completed to the Financial Intermediary in order to have it transmitted by the latter to the Agent of the above-mentioned Bonds, the undersigned Bondholder irrevocably exercises his right of early redemption of the Bonds in accordance with Condition 5.6.3 of the Securities Note (*Redemption upon a Change of Control of the Issuer*), for a total nominal amount of EUR ______³ on the Early Redemption Date falling on

The undersigned Bondholder hereby confirms (i) that he/she holds the amount of Bonds as mentioned above and (ii) that he/she agrees not to sell or transfer such amount of Bonds before the Early Redemption Date.

Coordinates of the Bondholder requesting an early redemption⁵ :

Name and first name or Company: Address: Telephone number:

Payment instructions⁶ :

³ Please specify the relevant amount.

⁴ Please complete as appropriate

⁵ Please specify the coordinates

⁶ Please specify the instructions

Please carry out the payment relating to the Bonds as mentioned above by transfer on the following bank account :

The undersigned Bondholder confirms that payment in respect of the Redeemed Bonds shall be made against debit of his/her securities account number _____ [NUMBER] with _____ [NAME AND ADDRESS OF BANK] for the above-mentioned nominal amount of the Bonds in dematerialised form.

All notices and communications relating to this Early Redemption Request Notice Form should be sent to the address specified above.

Terms used and not otherwise defined in this Early Redemption Request Notice Form have the meanings given to them in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.

Signature of the Bondholder: _____ Date of the signature: _____

REMARK : The Agent can under no circumstances be held liable towards any Bondholder or any other person in case of loss or damage resulting from an act, default or omission of such Agent in respect of those Bonds as long as this loss or damage does not result from an act of fraud or negligence of the Agent.

This Early Redemption Request Notice is not valid (i) if all the paragraphs to be completed are not duly completed and (ii) if it is not duly signed and sent. Once duly sent, this Early Redemption Request Notice is irrevocable.

Bondholders are advised to check with the relevant Financial Intermediary when such Financial Intermediary would require to receive the completed Early Redemption Request Notice to arrange to deliver the Early Redemption Request Notice and the Bonds to be redeemed to the account of the Agent for the account of the Issuer by the relevant Early Redemption Date.